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Annual General Meeting
The 2020 Annual General Meeting has been 
temporarily postponed because of COVID-19. 
Notice of Annual General Meeting will be sent 
out by Endomines board at a later stage.

Calendar 2020
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ENDOMINES –  
AGILE AND MODERN MI-
NING COMPANY 

Endomines is a mining and explora-
tion company with its primary focus 
on gold. The Company explores for 
gold along the Karelian Gold Line in 
Eastern Finland and develops mining 
operations in Idaho, USA. Endomines 
aims to improve its long-term growth 
prospects by increasing its exploration 
activities and through acquisitions.

What is 
Endomines?

USA
Gold
Idaho

 

FINLAND

Gold
Ilomantsi

Ilmenite
Kokkola,  

Kälviä
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January

May

ENDOMINES PUBLISH 
an update on exploration 
acticities from the Karelian 
Goldline. The results high-
lights the high exploration 
potential.

March
 20

19

December

 20
20

February August

July

FINAL OUTCOME of Endo-
mines’ rights issue – Raising 
approx. 156 million SEK

November

CEO SAILA MIETTINEN-LÄH-
DE leaves the Company and 
Marcus Ahlström is appointed 
as Interim CEO. 

ENDOMINES AQUIRES the 
rights to the Unity-mine in 
Idaho, USA. The Unity-mione 
project will be developed 
together with the connecting 
Rescue-mine project.

ENDOMINES announces that 
meddelar att produktionsprognosen 
för 2019 inte uppnås på grund av 
försenad produktionsstar produc-
tion guidance for 2019 will not to 
be achieved due to delays. Tailings 
pond that suffered damages during 
the winter is repaired.

ENDOMINES ACQUIRES   
Friday Mine Open Pit Mining 
Rights from NexGen. Endomi-
nes considers re-domiciliation 
to Finland from Sweden through 
a cross-border merger.

ENDOMINES appoints 
Greg Smith as CEO.ENDOMINES PLACES 

a senior secured bond 
amounting to 3.7 MEUR 
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In addition, the company has continued the development 
of the Friday mine site and ramped up both mining op-

erations and the commissioning of an enrichment plant. 
We have also continued our ore smelting operations on 
the Karelian Gold Line with promising results. The results 
of exploration on the Karelian Gold Line have continued 
to strengthen our view on the area’s high exploration po-
tential, and in addition, several potential sites have been 
identified close to the existing mine.

Since the problems with the tailing basin were discov-
ered at the beginning of the year,efforts at the Friday mine 
have focused on increasing production from mining oper-
ations and completing of the work at the enrichment plant. 
During the spring, damage was discovered in the tailing 
basin’s slurry feed and support structures, in connection 
with the installation of the discharge pipes to the waste 
deposit area. This damage occurred during the winter of 
2018/2019 and became apparent during the spring thaw. 
Repairs took longer than expected to complete as the area 
needed to dry sufficiently in order to become accessible 
to repair vehicles. Therefore, the repair had to be compet-
ed after the summer, which further delayed operations at 
the concentrating plant.

However, after repairs to the tailing basin were com-
plete, the scale-up of production at the mine proceeded 

2019 was a year of restructuring at Endomines with 
a new CEO leading the company, a successful rights 
issue, the completion of an agreement for the Unity 
mine lease, and reorganization and strengthening 
of the US team. 

The CEO has 
the floor

according to plan and good production volumes were 
reached by the end of year. Regrettably, some problems 
were discovered during the commissioning of the enrich-
ment plant in the autumn, which meant that production 
of gold concentrate could not begin in 2019 as planned. 
However, work has progressed and commissioning the en-
richment plant has now been completed; and increasing 
production to reach full capacity is currently underway.

Despite the many challenges and changes, I am delight-
ed by the strong commitment that our staff has shown dur-
ing this period and by the strong goal-oriented attitude, 
which have helped us through the challenging start-up 
phase of our first mining project in Idaho, USA. The fact 
that we have now proven our ability to build and operate a 
mine creates significant added value for our shareholders, 
and also strengthens confidence in our ability to continue 
the development of subsequent mining assets.

We continue to work towards our goals of sustainable 
development in our operations, in cooperation with local 
communities in the US and Finland. We have a good work-
ing relationship with the local population both countries 
and will continue to work on developing our business and 
helping improve local employment. We look forward with 
confidence to developing the high potential of our portfo-
lio of mining projects and continuing the development of 
our company.

I would like to extend a big thank you to our staff, who 
have shown such strong commitment and faith in our joint 
projects. To our shareholders and investors, I would also 
like to express my sincerest thanks for all the support you 
have given us during 2019. Without your strong support 
and faith in the company, we could not have persisted with 
our projects and long-term strategy. In 2020, we will con-
tinue to develop our assets, work hard, and deliver on our 
chosen approach.

Stockholm April 29, 2020

Greg Smith
CEO  
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Financial Statement 
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Mineral Resources – Karelian Gold Line, Finland (status Dec 31, 2019)

Deposit Tonnes Grade Au g/t Oz kg Classification Prepared by Note

Pampalo Resources

Pampalo Deep 101 503 5,1 16 611 517 Indicated Endomines (1)

Pampalo East 229 000 1,8 12 897 401 Indicated Endomines (2)

Pampalo NW 29 000 2,5 2 284 71 Indicated Endomines (3)

Pampalo Indicated Total 359 503 2,8 31 792 989 Indicated Endomines

Pampalo Deep 118 125 5,36 20 341 633 Inferred Endomines (1)

Pampalo D-zone 164 110 1,9 9 912 308 Inferred Endomines (1)

Pampalo East 62 000 1,4 2 791 87 Inferred Endomines (2)

Pampalonlammit 103 000 1,8 5 961 185 Inferred Endomines (3)

Pampalo Inferred Total 447 235 2,7 39 005 1 213 Inferred Endomines

Karelian Gold Line  
Resources

Hosko 35 000 4,1 4 557 142 Measured Geoconsulting Parkkinen (4)

Hosko 675 000 1,2 25 761 801 Indicated Geoconsulting Parkkinen (4)

Muurinsuo 354 000 1,9 22 080 687 Indicated Endomines (6)

Kuivisto East 37 000 3,2 3 807 118 Indicated MAPTEK

Karelian Measured +  
Indicated Total 1 101 000 1,6 56 204 1 748

Measured+  
Indicated

Hosko 240 000 0,8 6 019 187 Antagna Geoconsulting Parkkinen (4)

Rämepuro 136 000 2,3 9 926 309 Antagna Geoconsulting Parkkinen (5)

Muurinsuo 231 000 1,4 10 398 323 Antagna Endomines (6)

Kuivisto East 145 000 1,0 4 662 145 Antagna MAPTEK

Kuittila 275 000 2,6 22 988 715 Antagna GSF, historical

Korvilansuo 256 000 2,0 16 461 512 Antagna Outotec (Finland) Oy (7)

Karelian Inferred Total 1 283 000 1,7 70 453 2 191 Antagna

(1) Cut-off 1,5 g/t; top cut 10-20 g/t gold 
(2) Cut-off 0,5 g/t; top cut 7 g/t gold
(3) Cut-off 0,5 g/t; top cut 10 g/t gold 
(4) Cut off 0,5 g/t; top cut 11g/t (low grade domain) or 50 g/t gold (high grade domain) 
(5) Cut-off 0,5 g/t, top cut 40 g/t gold 
(6) Cut-off 0,5 g/t, top cut 10 g/t gold
(7) Cut-off 0,5 g/t gold; no top cut     

Troy ounce = 31,1035 g

MINERAL RESERVES AND MINERAL RESOURCES

Mineral resources estimated according the JORC-code (except Kuit-
tila), all figures independently rounded. Mineral Resources are repor-
ted inclusive of Ore Reserves. 
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Mineral Resources – Idaho, USA (status Dec 31, 2019)

Deposit Tonnes Grade Au g/t Oz kg Classification Prepared by Note

Friday Resources

Measured 245 000 6,88 54 200 1 686 Measured Hard Rock Consulting (1,2)

Indicated 217 000 6,16 43 000 1 337 Indicated Hard Rock Consulting (1,2)

Measured + Indicated 462 000 6,54 97 200 3 023 Measured+Indicated Hard Rock Consulting (1,2)

Inferred 296 000 4,91 46 700 1 453 Antagna Hard Rock Consulting

Buffalo Gulch Resources

Measured 3 515 000 0,57 64 800 2 016 Measured Hard Rock Consulting (1,3,4)

Indicated 3 230 000 0,48 49 900 1 552 Indicated Hard Rock Consulting (1,3,4)

Measured + Indicated 6 745 000 0,53 114 700 3 568 Measured+Indicated Hard Rock Consulting (1,3,4)

Inferred 2 128 000 0,38 25 700 799 Inferred Hard Rock Consulting (1,3,4)

Historic Resources

Rescue 67 000 21,35 45 980 1 430 Historic Kimberly Mines, (2004) (5)

Kimberly 261 000 19,18 160 930 5 005 Historic Laczay, (2010) (5)

Deadwood 2 375 000 0,77 58 601 1 823 Historic
BEMA Gold Corporation, 
(1989) (5)

Historic Total 2 703 000 3,06 265 511 8 258 (5)
 

*Notes:
       
(1) Measured, Indicated and Inferred mineral classifications are assigned according to CIM Definition Standards. Mineral resources, which are not mineral reserves, do not have  
 demonstrated economic viability and there is no guarantee that mineral resources will be converted to mineral reserves. Mineral resource tonnage and contained metal have 
  been rounded to reflect the accuracy of the estimate, and numbers may not add due to rounding.       
       
(2) The mineral resource estimate was prepared by HRC based on data and information available as of March 1, 2016. The Measured, Indicated and Inferred mineral resources are 
  reported considering a base case estimate that applies a cutoff grade of 3.4 g/t Au based on the estimated operating costs, recoveries, and a $1,300/oz gold price.  
             
(3) The mineral resource estimate was prepared by HRC based on data and information available as of December 10, 2017. The Measured, Indicated and Inferred mineral  
 resources are reported considering a base case estimate that applies a cutoff grade of 0.14 g/t Au based on the estimated operating costs, recoveries, and a $1,300/oz gold  
 price.              

(4) Mineral Resources captured within the pit shell meet the test of reasonable prospect for economic extraction and can be declared a Mineral Resource. Pit optimization is 
  based on assumed gold price of US$1,300/oz. and mining, processing and G&A costs of US$15.20 per ton processed Metallurgical recoveries for gold are 90%.  
           
(5) Endomines caution that while the historic resources presented appear to be in general accordance with those set out in NI 43-101 Sections 1.2 and 1.3, a qualified person has  
 not done sufficient work to classify the historical estimate as current mineral resources, and Endomines is not treating the historical estimate as current nor reliable.  
      
 Troy ounce = 31.103      
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5 YEAR OVERVIEW

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT, MSEK 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Total income 5,8 105,3 122,6 101,1 110,7

Adjusted EBITDA (1) -48,8 5,9 -5,7 -9,2 -62,8

EBIT -52,5 -48,5 -64,8 -103,1 -156,6

Net income -76,7 -37,4 -69,3 -125,0 -165,0

Total comprehensive income -64,9 -12,4 -69,2 -120,7 -149,6

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 
POSITION, MSEK 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Intangible assets 371,3 355,3 63,1 59,4 52,2

Tangible assets 195,7 115,7 62,2 104,6 163,7

Deferred tax assets 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 19,6

Other investments 5,5 5,4 5,2 6,9 4,8

Current assets excluding cash 1,4 5,5 14,3 21,7 13,4

Cash and cash equivalents 15,7 18,9 15,8 29,4 20,0

Total assets 589,6 500,9 160,6 222,1 273,7

Total equity 336 251,7 45,4 114,5 168,6

Provisions 13,1 9,4 8,1 2,1 6,3

Derivative instruments 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 1,4

Borrowings 7,2 35,3 83,6 83,6 83,4

Other liabilties 233,3 204,5 23,5 21,9 13,9

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT, 
MSEK 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Cash flow from operations -78,9 -7,6 1,0 -13,6 -77,4

Cash flow from investments -80,3 -158,9 -12,3 -40,3 -37,3

Cash flow from financing 155,9 166,9 -2,4 62,8 21,9

Total cash flow for the period -3,3 0,4 -13,7 9,0 -92,8

KEY FIGURES 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Production

Milled ore (tonnes) 0 116 456 165 539 150 917 335 896

Head grade (Au gram/tonne) 0,0 3,3 2,9 2,6 1,9

Gold recovery (%) 0,0 82,6 83,4 82,9 83,0

Hourly utilization (%) 0,0 39,3 38,8 37,6 87,0

Gold production (kg) 0,0 331,3 398,1 325,0 529,5

Gold production (oz) 0 10 651 12 799 10 450 17 022

Cost per milled ore ton (EUR) (2) 0 66 70 68 51

Cost per milled ore ton (SEK) (2) 0 677 678 639 476

Cash Cost (USD/oz) (3) 0 981 1 165 1 195 1 258

Financial

Revenue growth rate -94 % -14 % 21 % -10 % -35 %

EBITDA margin (4) -841 % 6 % -5 % -9 % -55 %

Operating margin (5) -905 % -46 % -53 % -101 % -138 %

Net margin (6) -1322 % -36 % -56 % -122 % -145 %

Equity ratio (7) 57 % 50 % 28 % 52 % 62 %

Net interest-bearing debt (8) 199,6 185,3 67,7 54,1 63,4

Net gearing (9) 59 % 74 % 149 % 47 % 38 %

Return on equity (10) -26 % -25 % -87 % -88 % -68 %

Average number of employees 34 38 42 44 72

PER SHARE FIGURES, SEK 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Earnings per share -1,28 -1,10 -6,60 -12,49 -26,08

Equity per share (11) 4,2 7,37 4,33 10,92 26,66

Weighted average number of shares 
(thousands) (12) 59 705 34 122 10 486 10 009 6 325

Number of shares at the end of period (13) 79 957 35 147 10 486 10 486 6 325

Share price at the end of period (SEK) (14) 5,6 6,00 16,50 18,30 8,50

Market capitalization at the end of 
period (MSEK) 451 212,4 173,0 191,9 53,7

Management Report Corporate Governance Report Group Annual Accounts Parent Company Annual Accounts Auditor ś Report
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION - ALTERNATIVE 
KEY FIGURES 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

EBITDA (MSEK)

EBIT -52,5 -48,5 -64,8 -103,1 -156,6

+ Depreciation and amortization 3,6 43,0 59,1 95,4 88,9

EBITDA -48,8 -5,5 -5,7 -7,7 -67,8

+ Costs of employee co-operation negotiations 0,0 -3,6 0,0 0,0 0,0

+ Costs of the acquisition of TVL Gold Idaho 0,0 -7,8 0,0 0,0 0,0

+ Unrealized result of hedging instruments 0,0 0,0 0,0 -1,5 5,0

Adjusted EBITDA (1) -48,8 5,9 -5,7 -9,2 -62,8

Costs per milled ore ton

Production costs per management accounting 
(”non-IFRS”) (KEUR) 0 7 728 11 650 10 187 17 088

Milled ore (tons) 0 116 456 165 539 150 917 335 896

EUR/ton (2) 0 66 70 68 51

SEK/ton (based on average exchange rate) (2) 0 677 678 639 476

Cash cost (USD/oz

Production costs per management accounting 
(”non-IFRS”) (KEUR) 0 7 728 11 650 10 187 17 088

Converted to USD with average exchange rate 
(KUSD) 0 9 223 13 117 11 263 19 033

Costs paid to smelting and processing plants 
(KUSD) 0 1 226 1 794 1 225 2 381

Total costs (USD) 0 10 449 14 911 12 488 21 414

Gold production for the period (oz) 0 10 651 12 799 10 450 17 022

Cash Cost (USD/oz) (3) 0 981 1 165 1 195 1 258

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Equity ratio

Total equity (MSEK) 336 251,7 45,4 114,5 168,6

Total assets (MSEK) 589,6 500,9 160,6 222,1 273,7

Total equity (%) (7) 56,9 50,2 28,3 51,6 61,6

Net interest-bearing liabilities and gearing 
ratio (MSEK, if not stated otherwise)

Interest-bearing liabilities, total 215,2 204,2 83,6 83,6 83,4

- Cash and Cash equivalents -15,7 -18,9 -15,8 -29,4 -20,0

Net interest-bearing liabilities (8) 199,5 185,3 67,8 54,2 63,4

Total equity 336 251,7 45,4 114,5 168,6

Net interest-bearing liabilities per Total 
equity (%) (9) 59,4 73,6 149,3 47,3 37,6

Equity per share (MSEK)

Equity attributable to the shareholders of the 
parent company, end of the period 336,0 251,4 45,4 114,5 168,6

Shares outstanding, end of the period (Adjusted 
for share issues, if needed) 59 705 34 122 10 486 10 486 6 325

Equity per share (SEK) 5,63 7,37 4,33 10,92 26,66
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION – ALTERNATIVE 
KEY FIGURES 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Average income (details in the written part 
of this summary)

Income from gold concentrate before the gold 
price hedge (MSEK)  5,9 104,0 121,0 101,1 151,0

Gold delivered (oz)  530 10,562 12,715 10,206 17,421

Average income (SEK/oz)  11 095 9,847 9,517 9,902 8,670

Reconciliation against the total income in 
the income statement (MSEK):

Realised effect of gold price hedge 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 -38,1

Other income 1,7 1,3 0,4 1,0 0,6

Change in inventory -1,8 -0,1 1,2 -0,9 -2,8

Income statement total income 105,3 105,3 122,6 101,1 110,7

Working capital (MSEK)

Current assets 17,1 24,5 30,1 51,1 33,4

- Cash and cash equivalents -15,7 -18,9 -15,8 -29,4 -20,0

Operating assets 1,4 5,6 14,3 21,7 13,4

- Account payables 9,8 17,2 11,6 15,6 6,3

- Other short-term liabilities 4,9 1,6 4,5 0,8 0,9

- Accruals and prepaid expenses 4,2 8,0 7,4 5,4 6,8

Operating liabilities 18,9 26,8 23,5 21,8 14

Working capital -17,5 -21,2 -9,2 -0,1 -0,6

Capital invested (MSEK)

Total assets 589,6 500,9 160,6 222,1 273,7

Total liabilities and provisions -253,6 -249,2 -115,2 -107,6 -105,0

+ Interest-bearing liabilities 215,4 204,2 83,6 83,6 83,4

Capital invested 551,4 473,7 129,0 198,1 252,1

Definitions of the key figures 
Endomines provides measures prepared in accordance with IFRS as well as some non-IFRS performance measures 
(referred to below also as “alternative performance measures”). Non-IFRS measures have limitations as analytical 
tools and they should be not used as sole or substitute measures to analyze companies. The alternative performance 
measures are provided to help investors better assess the Company’s operating result and anticipated results as well 
as to facilitate comparisons between results for different periods. The management uses alternative performance 
measures to, among others, evaluate ongoing operation against past results, for internal planning and for forecasts. 

Adjusted EBITDA (1) Results before depreciation, impairments and unreali-
zed profit/loss on derivative instruments

Cost per milled ton of ore (2) Production cost, excluding depreciation, other capital 
costs etc. divided by ore tons processed. Conversion 
from EUR to SEK is done by average rate.

Cash Cost (USD/oz) (3) Cash cost per ounce is calculated based on the 
guidance issued by The Gold Institute Production Cost 
Standard.  Mining, ore processing and site adminis-
tration and off-site smelting and refining costs are 
included in cash cost while depreciations, capital and 
exploration costs are excluded.  “Cash Cost” figure 
is furnished to provide additional information and is 
a non-IFRS measure. Translation from EUR to USD is 
done at average rate.

EBITDA margin (4) Adjusted EBITDA as per cent of total revenues 

Operating margin (5) EBIT as per cent of total revenues

Net margin (6) Net income as per cent of total revenues

Equity ratio (7) Equity as per cent of total assets

Net interest-bearing debt (8) Total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents

Gearing (9) Net debt divided by equity

Return on equity (10) Earnings after tax divided by average equity (opening 
and closing equity for the period)

Equity per share (11) Adjusted for share issues as the case may be  
 

Weighted average number of shares (thou-
sands)

(12) Adjusted for share issues as the case may be

Number of shares at the end of period (thou-
sands)

(13) Adjusted for share issues as the case may be

Share price at the end of period (SEK) (14) Adjusted for share issues as the case may be
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The Board of Directors and the CEO of Endomines AB (publ) org.
no. 556694-2974 hereby submit the annual report for the financial 
year 2019.

Endomines AB is a mining company focused on gold production. 
The company is exploring in eastern Finland, along the Kareli-
an Gold Line. The company also has mining operations in Idaho, 
USA. Endomines aims to create long-term growth opportuni-
ties, through increased exploration and corporate acquisitions. 
Endomines intends to acquire deposits located in stable juris-
dictions, which can be converted to production quickly and with 
limited investment.

Endomines’ goal is to increase shareholder value by develop-
ing mineral deposit sites, which are part of the company’s ex-
tensive project portfolio. The company’s business model, and 
its mining and exploration operations are based on sustainable 
values and on minimizing environmental impact.

Endomines applies SveMin and FinnMin common reporting 
rules for public mining and exploration companies. Endomines 
has chosen to report the mineral resources and mineral reserves 
in accordance with the JORC code in Finland and in accordance 
with the Canadian NI-43101 code for mineral resources and re-
serves in the USA. Both are internationally accepted codes for 
reporting mineral resources and reserves.

Endomines also has ambitions to actively participate in future 
transformations and consolidations in the Nordic mining industry 
and will therefore evaluate any such opportunities that may arise.

Endomines AB is listed on Nasdaq Stockholm: (ENDO) and 
on Nasdaq Helsinki: (ENDOM). Erik Penser Bankaktiebolag was 
the company’s liquidity guarantor in Stockholm and Helsinki until 
March 1, 2020. As of March 2, 2020, LagoKapital is the company’s 
liquidity guarantor in Stockholm and Helsinki.

The year in summary
Operational
• The Orogrande processing facility for the Friday mine was com-

missioned
• Takeover of the underground mining operations at the Friday 

mine were completed

MANAGEMENT REPORT

• No personal injuries were reported in the last 12 months; LTIFR 
0 (11)

Financial
• Revenue amounted to SEK 5.8 million (105.3)
• EBITDA amounted to SEK –48.8 million (–5.5)
• Total cash flow amounted to SEK –3.3 million (0.4). 
• Earnings per share amounted to SEK –1.28 (–1.10)

Strategic
• Endomines placed a senior covered bond of EUR 3.7 million and 

warrants. The bond has a coupon of 12.0 percent and a matu-
rity of 3 years. The number of associated warrants amounts to 
a total of 3,888,877 with a subscription price of EUR 0.90 per 
subscription option. Endomines’ rights issue was successfully 
completed in July and brought in gross SEK 156 million.

• On 3 May 2019, Endomines’ Board of Directors announced that 
Saila Miettinen-Lähde will resign as CEO. The Board of Direc-
tors appointed CFO Marcus Ahlström as Acting CEO with ef-
fect from 3 May.

• Endomines appoints Greg Smith as CEO in November, Marcus 
Ahlström continues as Deputy CEO and CFO. 

Significant events after the end of the year
• On 9 January 2020, half of the convertible bonds issued to 

sellers by TVL Gold was converted into shares in Endomines 
AB, in accordance with the updated terms decided by En-
domines Extraordinary General Meeting on 10 December 
2019. After conversion, Endomines AB’s total number of shares 
and votes amounts to 96,914,307 and the share capital to SEK 
291,089,546.70.

• On 28 January 2020, Endomines announced that the company 
has signed a Letter of Intent with Transatlantic Mining to pur-
chase the US Grant mine (including its enrichment plant) and 
the Kearsarge gold project.

• On 4 February 2020, Endomines announced that by the end 
of the year, the company had successfully taken over mining 
operations at the Friday mine, and also successfully made op-
erational the mine’s Orogrande Processing Facility (“OPF”), in 

Idaho County, Idaho, USA.
• On 25 February 2020, remaining convertibles issued to the 

sellers of TVL Gold were converted into shares in Endomines 
AB. This is in accordance with the updated convertible terms 
that were resolved at Endomines AB’s Extraordinary Gener-
al Meeting on December 10, 2019. After the conversion, En-
domines AB’s total number of shares and votes amounts to 
113,447,640 and share capital to SEK 340,748,679.

• On 12 March 2020, Endomines announced that it has entered 
into an agreement with H&H Metal’s on the current sale of 
gold concentrate produced at the Friday mine (“Project”) lo-
cated in Idaho, USA.

• On 1 April 2020, Endomines announced that it had taken out a 
loan by issuing debentures of EUR 3.4 million, mainly for Finn-
ish institutional investors, including the Chair of the Board 
and CEO of Endomines AB, and intends to issue warrants to 
some of lenders.

• On 7 April 2020, Endomines announced that it will be postpon-
ing its transfer of domicile from Sweden to Finland through 
a cross-border merger. The transfer is planned to be com-
pleted as a cross-border merger. The merger plan requires 
approval of Endomines AB (publ) General Meeting and the 
Board intends to return during the second half of 2020 with 
a summons to the General Meeting to decide on a merger 
proposal.

• On April 8, 2020, Endomines announced that it is conducting 
a directed equity issue of approximately EUR 1.3 million to 
speed start-up operations at the Friday mine.

• On April 29, 2020, Endomines announced an agreement with 
Transatlantic Mining on the acquisition of the US Grant mine, 
including the existing enrichment plant and the Kearsarge 
gold project.

• On April 29, 2020, Endomines announced that it had taken out 
a loan by issuing SEK 30 million in debt to mainly Danish and 
Swedish institutional investors and entered into an agreement 
with Seaport Global to enable a long-term financing solution.

• The COVID-19 outbreak has developed rapidly in 2020 with 
a sharp increase in the number of infections. Measures tak-
en by governments to limit the spread of the virus have also 

Management Report Corporate Governance Report Group Annual Accounts Parent Company Annual Accounts Auditor ś Report
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affected economic activity. We have taken a number of meas-
ures to monitor and prevent the effects of the COVID-19, such 
as health and safety measures for our employees (social dis-
tancing and working from home) and ensuring the delivery of 
materials that are crucial to our production process. Currently 
the impact on our operations and results are limited. We will 
continue to follow national policies and advice, and in parallel 
we will do our utmost to continue our activities in the safest 
way possible without jeopardizing our employees’ health.

Company strategy
Endomines is a flexible and modern mining company. We are 
active in the exploration and mining of gold deposits in Finland 
and the USA. We strive to increase the value of our company, 
by developing our assets into economically profitable mines in 

accordance with sustainable mining methods. We also aim for 
growth through mergers, acquisitions and other arrangements. 
Endomines strives to improve its long-term growth potential 
through expanded exploration, production, and acquisitions. 
Endomines intends to acquire deposits in stable jurisdictions 
that can be put into production quickly, with ease, and through 
limited investments. In early 2018, the company took its first 
step by completing the acquisition of TVL Gold Idaho, now 
Endomines Idaho LLC, a US mining company that owns the 
rights to five gold projects in Idaho, USA. On 28 January 2020, 
Endomines announced that it had signed a letter of intent with 
the mining company Transatlantic Mining to buy the US Grant 
mine and its enrichment facility as well as the leasing assignment 
for the Kearsarge gold project in the Virginia City mining district 
of Montana, USA. Through exploration Endomines also strives 

to secure its mining operations and long-term growth. Currently 
our exploration activity is focused on the Karelian Gold Line, and 
Endomines expects a positive cash flow from these operations, 
which will be used to expand exploration projects to nearby areas 
of current US assets.

OPERATIONS
Production in Pampalo
During the year 2019, no production occurred at the Pampalo 
mine 

Since the 2018 shutdown, Endomines has put the Pampalo 
mine and the enrichment facility under repair and maintenance. 
The mine is kept dry, enabling underground exploration drilling 
in nearby areas from existing shafts, as well as the rapid restart of 
production if gold market prices justify the necessary investments 
to reach the next depth level in the known gold deposit.

Exploration and underground development in Pampalo 
No exploration or drilling has taken place in the deep extension 
of the Pampalo mine in 2019.

The results from drilling operations in 2017 indicate that there 
is sufficient ore for about 1–1.5 years of production within 100 
meters of the mining area dug in 2018. The gold content of the 
deeper deposits is estimated to be slightly better than in the 
higher levels. Breaking into the deep extension would require 
investment in a slant and additional ventilation.

Regional exploration operations along the Karelian Gold Line
In 2019, Endomines continued its work on area exploration and 
mine exploration along the Karelian Gold Line in eastern Finland. 
The new exploration strategy for the Karelian Gold Line has been 
developed in collaboration with the consulting company Mod-
el Earth, which has experience in similar exploration along the 
gold-mineralized green belt in Australia.

In Q4 2019, final results were obtained from the comprehensive 
program for deep moraine base-of-till sampling tests (BOT), 
which was conducted in August 2019. Several anomalies for 
gold concentrations were found in the deep moraine tests. 
The results will require follow-up work south of the Pampalo 
mine and at the northern end of the Karelian Gold Line. The 
Dikes program in the Hosko area was completed in November. 
A total of eight trenches were excavated at sites with elevated 

KEY FIGURES FOR PRODUCTION 2018–2019*  

Full year

2019 2018 +/-

Operational data

Enriched ore (tonnes) - 116 456 116 456

Incoming gold content (g/t) - 3,3 -3,3

Gold yield in the works (%) - 82,6 -82,6

Availability (%) - 39,3 -39,3

Gold production (kg) - 331,3 -331,3

Gold production (tr oz) - 10 651 -10 651

Injury rate LTIFR (rolling 12 months) - 11 -11

Financial data

Costs per fortified ore (EUR) - 66 -66

Costs per fortified ore (SEK) - 677 -677

Cash Cost (USD / oz) - 981 -981

Average Gold Price LBMA (USD / oz) 1 394 1 270 124

Production data for the last quarter is partly based on the company’s own analysis and has not been confirmed by external 
laboratories. The data is individually rounded. LTIFR = The number of reported injuries that led to an absence day calculated 
per million working hours calculated on rolling 12-month basis. LTIFR is calculated for the entire company including contractors.
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gold concentrations in the test samples. In total 182 diamond-
cut channel samples were extracted and analyzed for gold. Two 
of the trenches showed elevated gold concentrations in the till 
samples and will be targets for follow-up exploration work. A 
diamond drilling program containing six boreholes approx. 200 
meters south of Pampalo was completed in October 2019. The 
boreholes cut through Pampalo and Pampalo East type rocks and 
confirmed the existence of a gold-mineralized area.

The exploration activities completed in 2019 consist in total of 
1,639 deep till samples, 391 channel samples, 332 meters of sur-
face diamond drilling, detailed geological mapping and prospec-
ting, which focused on sites identified by the gold exploration 
competition for laymen organized by Endomines in 2018. More 
information was obtained from the Hattu 3D project (a 3D mine-
ral system for the Hattu slate belt), which is being implemented 
together with the Finnish Geological Research Center (GTK). The 
project will be postponed until June 2020, in order to complete 
the remaining work and prepare the final reports.

Two applications for exploration permits within the Karelian 
Gold Line area were submitted in 2019: for the Mujusenkorpi 
area six kilometers north of Pampalo and for the Kartitsa area 
five kilometers northeast of Hosko. In addition, a total of nine 
applications for the extension of the existing permits have been 
approved by Tukes (the Finnish Safety and Chemicals Agency).

Plans are being made for the 2020 exploration program. The 
plans will include studies of new exploration data and historical 
data, new logging and sampling of historical drill cores, channel 
sampling, core drilling and development of geological 3D models 
for the area near the mine, and updating of Endomines’ existing 
estimates of mineral resources for other projects. Exploration 
work will mainly focus on areas close to Pampalo and the recently 
applied permit areas of Kartitsa and Mujusenkorpi.

Update of mineral reserves and resources
Endomines published an updated estimate of its mineral reserves 
and assets on 3 March 2020. Estimates at the Pampalo Mine and 
the Karelian Gold Line have been made in accordance with the 
JORC (“Joint Ore Reserve Committee Code”), which is the 2012 
Australian Code on reporting of mineral reserves and resources.

The Friday mine and Buffalo Gulch project’s reported mineral 
assets in Idaho, USA, are reported according to the Canadian In-
stitute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum (“CIM”) standards for 
mineral reserves and resources, and are prepared according to the 

CIM Standing Committee on Reserve Definitions and adopted by 
the CIM Council on 10 May 2014.

The Pampalo mine reserves were discontinued in 2018. The 
Pampalo mineral resources from 2017, which are republished here, 
were determined in accordance with the 5040-meter drilling pro-
gram in the Pampalo ore extension and the identified mineral as-
sets are estimated to contain 16,611 ounces of gold and potential 
assets 20,341 ounces of gold. As the gold price at the time did not 
support an investment in a slant, which would enable access to the 
assets, operations at the Pampalo mine ceased in October 2018.

There were no changes in mineral resources at other deposits 
on the Karelian Gold Line, with the exception of Pampalo East, 
where the remaining mineral resources (32,000 tons) were restored 
to mineral reserves. Known and indicated assets at the Karelian 
Gold Line are estimated at a total of 56,204 ounces and possible 
reserves at 70,453 ounces.

In the past year, Endomines increased its understanding of the 
Idaho gold projects, which was acquired in February 2018. En-
domines is working to develop the Friday mine and change some 
of the estimated 97,200 ounces of assumed and indicated assets 
into ore reserves. Friday’s assets are 46,700 ounces of gold.

In 2018, the historically known and indicated assets of the 
Buffalo Gulch project were also confirmed and amended, total-
ing 114,700 ounces of gold. The same change is planned for the 

historic assets at Deadwood. In addition, the company is working 
on developing the mineral resource estimates at the Kimberly and 
Rescue projects through exploration programs, which aim at areas 
with known high-grade gold and silver veins.

The mineral reserves relating to Deadwood, Rescue and Kim-
berly prospecting projects are classified as historical assets, as 
they are made to the current applicable standards. Endomines 
points out that although presented historical assets for Kimberly, 
Rescue and Deadwood appear to be in line with NI 43-101 chap-
ters 1.2 and 1.3 definitions, a qualified person has not yet com-
pleted sufficient work to classify the historical estimates as current 
mineral assets, and Endomines does not assume historical esti-
mates as either currant or reliable.

Increasing production at the Friday mine in Idaho, USA
Endomines has made significant progress in the construction 
of the Friday mine and the processing facility. The Enrichment 
Facility was commissioned during Q4 2019 and only small projects 
remain to reach full operational capacity. Endomines is currently 
working to increase production capacity and is recruiting the 
remaining necessary staff to be able to operate the enrichment 
facility 24 hours a day, 7 days a week.

The ore mining has gone well and developed as planned. All 
remaining pre-production development was completed during 

Gold price trends during the period 2018–2019 Monthly Average Gold Prices (LBAAM)  
January 2018 - December 2019
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KEY FIGURES (GROUP)

Jan-Dec

MSEK unless otherwise stated 2019 2018 +/-

Revenue 5,8 105,3 -99,5

Costs -54,6 -110,7 56,1

EBITDA -48,8 -5,5 -43,3

Depreciation and write-downs -3,6 -43,0 39,4

EBIT -52,5 -48,5 -4,0

Net profit for the period -76,7 -37,4 -39,3

Earnings per share (SEK) -1,28 -1,10 -0,18

Cash flow from operating activities -78,9 -7,6 -71,3

Investments -80,3 -158,9 78,6

Financing 155,9 166,9 -11,0

Liquidity at the end of the period 15,7 18,9 -3,2

Personnel at the end of the period 43 24 19

LTIFR 0 11 -11

Q4 2019 and anticipated production volumes are expected to be 
achieved during Q1 2020, enabling sustainable production for En-
domines once the scale-up of production at the enrichment plant 
has been completed. Endomines has to date mined some 5,000 
tons of ore, which is stored in both the mining and enrichment ar-
eas. The ore grades are judged to be in line with the forecasts. En-
domines postponed increasing its ore production to coincide with 
the plant’s commissioning, and the scale-up of is now planned to 
be implemented during Q1 2020. Endomines’ management group 
will review the full year projections and update the life plan for the 
mine. Annual gold production is expected to be approximately 
9,000-12,000 ounces, with a cost, depending on the production 
area, of USD 650-900 / ounce during the mine’s lifetime.

Operations at Endomines’ other projects in Idaho 
The environmental permit process for the Rescue / Unity, Kimberly 
and Buffalo Gulch projects continued during Q4 and work plans 
are underway for summer 2020 for all exploration projects in Idaho.

Health, environment and safety 
Endomines’ strategy for health, environment and safety is not 
accepting accidents and adverse environmental incidents; i.e. a 
policy free of personal injuries.

During the fourth quarter of 2019, focus has been on develop-
ing relevant safety and environmental practices for the company’s 
operations in Idaho, while also paying attention to the mainte-
nance of the good practices in Pampalo.. At the end of Q4 2019, 
the rolling twelve-month LTI frequency (lost time due to injury 
per one million working hours) was 0 in both Pampalo and Idaho, 
which means that the combined LTI rate at the corporate level 
was 0 as well.

Gold price and exchange rates
At the end of Q4 2019, the gold price was 1,523 USD/ounce (LBMA 
AM on 31 December 2019), an increase of 19 percent compared 
to 1,282 USD/ounce at the end of Q4 2018 (LBMA AM on 31 
December 2018). The average gold price for Q4 2019 was 1,483 

USD/ounce (1,227), and for the full year 2019 it was 1,394 USD/
ounce (1,270), which represents an increase of 21 and 10 percent 
respectively.

Most of the costs incurred in Endomines’ US operations in 
2019 were capitalized project expenses from the construction of 
the Friday mine. Therefore, do not have a significant impact on 
the Group’s profitability.

Results 
Total revenue for 2019, including inventory changes, amounted 
to SEK 5.8 million (105.3), which is a decrease of 94 percent. The 
decrease was due to the production stoppage in Pampalo in 
October 2018. Most of the revenue in 2019 came from gold from 
the Pampalo mine enrichment facility.

EBITDA amounted to SEK -48.8 million (-5.5), a decrease of SEK 
43.3 million, reflecting the discontinuation of mining operations 
in Pampalo. EBIT was at the previous year’s level and amounted 
to SEK -52.5 million (-48.5).

Depreciation and amortization amounted to SEK -3.6 million 
(-43.0). The decrease is mainly due to the depreciation of the 
mine after the Pampalo mine ceased production for maintenance 
and repairs and interrupted depreciation of other material pro-
duction assets after the temporary production stoppage.

Operating expenses decreased to SEK 54.6 million (110.7). The 
reduction in operating costs reflects the current non-production 
phase.

Net financial items amounted to SEK -24.3 million (11.0).
Profit after tax amounted to SEK -76.7 million (-37.4), with a 

total income tax of SEK 0.0 million (0.0). Net earnings per share 
amounted to SEK -1.28 (-1.10).

Cash flow and financing
Cash flow from operating activities before changes in working 
capital amounted to SEK −73.5 million (−15.9) in 2019. The change 
in working capital amounted to SEK −5.5 million (8.3). Cash flow 
after investments amounted to SEK −159.2 million (−166.5). The 
main increase in investment activity was due to construction 
projects linked to the Friday mine and the enrichment plant. Total 
cash flow from financing amounted to SEK 155.9 million (166.9). 
The main items consist of net inflow from the rights issue of SEK 
147.4 million, net inflow from the secured bond loan of SEK 39.0 
million and repayment of the acquisition loan of SEK -27.5 million 
to the sellers of TVL Gold Idaho. More information about the 

Comments on the financial results
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financial items can be found in the notes presented at the end 
of the report.

Endomines had no outstanding bank loans at the end of 2019.

Financial standing  
Net debt, including the debt portion of the convertible bond 
issued to sellers by TVL Gold Idaho, amounted to SEK 199.5 
million (185.3) at the end of 2019. Total equity amounted to SEK 
336.0 million (251.7), the increase is due primarily on the successful 
rights issue in July 2019. The debt/equity ratio decreased to 59 
percent (74), mainly due to the capital injection in 2019.

The total assets amounted to SEK 589.6 million (500.9) and the 
solvency ratio increased to 57 percent (50). Capital employed 
amounted to SEK 551.4 million (473.7). The Group’s liquid funds at 
the end of 2019 amounted to SEK 15.7 million (18.9).

The parent company Endomines AB
The Parent company’s operating expenses amounted to SEK 16.9 
million (11.8), of which 14.8 (10.0) consisted of other operating 
costs, including costs for the Group’s CEO, and SEK 2.1 million 
(1.8) - additional costs, including board fees. As of May 2017, the 
Parent company has been responsible for all costs for the Group 
CEO. Cash and cash equivalents at the end of 2019 amounted to 
SEK 14.9 million (9.6).

More information can be found in the income statement and 
the parent company’s report on financial position.

Sensitivity analysis
The Group’s gold revenues are in USD and the costs of gold pro-
duction have so far been mainly in EUR. Revenues in EUR are thus 
sensitive to fluctuations in both the gold price and the USD-EUR 
exchange rate. A sensitivity analysis from a balance sheet per-
spective is provided in Note 31. 

Other data
Risks in Endomines’ operations
All mining and exploration companies are subject to risks relating 
to technical, commercial, environmental and financial operations. 
Various circumstances can delay or prevent exploration of a 
target or production from an existing mine, which can also 
materially affect the company’s financial results and liquidity. In 
addition, foreign operations, such as in Endomines’ case in the 

MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS AS OF FEBRUARY 28, 2020 Number of shares % Country code

Clearstream Banking S.a., W8imy                 33 751 526 29,75 LU

Joensuun Kauppa Ja Kone Oy                      9 757 222 8,60 FI

Nordea Bank Abp, Nordea Bank Ab (Publ)           8 810 759 7,77 FI

Handelsbanken Finland Standard Client A/C       8 510 012 7,50 FI

Mariatorp Oy                                    6 200 000 5,47 FI

Wipunen Varainhallinta Oy                       6 200 000 5,47 FI

Aktia Bank Abp                                  2 869 999 2,53 FI

Ålandsbanken Ab, W8imy                          1 594 167 1,41 FI

Suokas Petri Kristian                           1 500 000 1,32 FI

Försäkringsaktiebolaget, Avanza Pension         1 139 436 1,00 SE

K22 Finance Oy                                  856 930 0,76 FI

Oy Q & A Consulting Ab                          851 000 0,75 FI

Seb Ab, Luxembourg Branch, W8imy                842 000 0,74 LU

Haga Ingmar                                     800 000 0,71 FI

Ålandsbanken I Ägares Ställe                    763 835 0,67 FI

Sto-Rahoitus Oy                                 750 000 0,66 FI

Drumbo Oy                                       700 000 0,62 FI

Herlin Olli Ilkka Julius                        700 000 0,62 FI

Lago Kapital 644 625 0,57 FI

Kakkonen Kari Heikki Ilmari                     625 000 0,55 FI

Nordnet Pensionsförsäkring Ab                   600 151 0,53 SE

Lemmetti Juhani                                 471 640 0,42 FI

Parudeis Oy                                     460 000 0,41 FI

Pluvia Oy                                       460 000 0,41 FI

Kalpala Martti Juhani                           400 777 0,35 FI

Subtotal 90 259 079 79,56

Other Shareholders 23 188 561 20,44

Other Shareholders / Total No of Shares 113 447 640 100,00

Shares Per Country Code

FI 70 053 694 61,75

SE 8 266 704 7,29

Other (Other) 35 127 242 30,96

113 447 640 100,00
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United States, may expose the company to various risks related 
to, e.g. currency risks and operational or legal requirements 
specific to the foreign jurisdictions. More information on risks and 
uncertainties can be found in Note 2. Management continuously 
monitors, assesses and manages risks.

The COVID-19 outbreak has developed rapidly in 2020 with 
high numbers of infections. Measures taken by various govern-
ments to limit the spread of the virus have had an affect on eco-
nomic activity. We have taken a number of measures to monitor 
and prevent the effects of the COVID-19 virus, such as safety 
and health measures for our employees (such as social distanc-
ing at work, lunch breaks, staying home if sickness or presenting 
symptoms, etc.) and ensuring delivery of materials which is cru-
cial to our production process. Mining has been classified as a 
socially important and necessary business in the state of Idaho, 
USA, where our main operational business is currently conduct-
ed. We have also had the opportunity to apply for support for, 
e.g. salary payment in accordance with federal aid directives 
issued in the United States. Thus, at this stage, the impact on 
our operations and results has been limited. We will continue to 
follow the policies and advice of national institutes, and at the 
same time, we will do our utmost to continue our business in the 
best and safest possible way without jeopardizing the health of 
our employees.

Related party transactions
In addition to the board fees paid to board members, some sig-
nificant shareholders participated in the company’s bond loan 
issued in Q1 2019 and also in the short-term loan issued in Q2 
2019. In addition, the Chairman of the Board participated in the 
bond loan issued during Q1 2019 - the rights issue ended in Q3 
2019.

Agreement 
None of the company’s current loan agreements contain termi-
nation clauses in the event of changes in ownership of the parent 
company.

Share Information
Endomines’ share capital and shares
The share capital of Endomines AB on 31 December 2019 
amounts to SEK 240,157,105, which consists of 79,957,043 shares 

at a value of SEK 3 per share. According to Endomines’ Articles 
of Association, the share capital must amount to at least SEK 150 
million and not more than SEK 600 million.

The number of shares and votes in Endomines increased by 
16,957,264 in January 2020, following the conversion of 50 per-
cent of the convertible loan Endomines has issued to TVL Gold 1, 
LLC. The conversion was made at a conversion price of SEK 5.85 
per share in accordance with the terms of the convertible loan in 
accordance with the changes made at Endomines’ Extraordinary 
General Meeting on 10 December 2019.

The number of shares and votes in Endomines increased by 
16,533,333 in February 2020, following the conversion of the re-
mainder of the convertible loan Endomines has issued to TVL 
Gold 1, LLC. The conversion was made at a conversion price of 
SEK 6.00 per share in accordance with the terms of the convert-
ible loan in accordance with the changes made at Endomines’ 
Extraordinary General Meeting on 10 December 2019.

After the forementioned transactions, the number of shares 
in Endomines amounts to 113,447,640 and the share capital 
amounts to SEK 340,748,679 on 28 February 2020.

The total number of shares traded on the stock exchange in 
2019 was 42.3 million, which corresponds to 52.9 percent of the 
total number of shares as of 31 December 2019. The relative li-
quidity of the stock on Nasdaq Helsinki was 52.7 percent and 47.3 
percent on Nasdaq Stockholm. At the end of 2019, 88.3 percent of 
the outstanding shares were registered in Finland, 10.3 percent in 
Sweden and 1.4 percent elsewhere.

At the end of 2019, the share price was SEK 5.6 (SEK 6.0 at the 
end of 2018). During the year the share price reached a peak of 
SEK 7.6 on 4 January 2019, and a low of SEK 3.5 on 17 June 2019.

Proposal for a decision on guidelines for remuneration and 
other terms of employment for company management
In accordance with the guidelines for remuneration to senior 
executives, Endomines shall apply market-based remuneration 
levels and terms of employment to be able to recruit and retain 
a management with high competence and capacity to achieve 
set goals, designed to promote the company’s long-term value 
creation. The remuneration shall consist of fixed salary, variable 
remuneration, any share-related incentive program, other bene-
fits and pension. Variable remuneration shall be paid based on 
outcomes in relation to clearly stated goals and be maximized in 
relation to the fixed salary set. It should never exceed 40 percent 

of fixed annual salary for the CEO and for other senior executives 
never exceed 30 percent of fixed annual salary.

Nominations
The Nomination Committee for Endomines AB consists of: 
Ingeborg Åkermarck (Chair) representing Wipunen Varainhallinta 
Oy / Mariatorp Oy, Kyösti Kakkonen representing Joensuun 
Kauppa ja Kone Oy, and Ingmar Haga Chair of Endomines AB. 

For further information, see the website under the section 
Corporate Governance / Nomination Committee.

Production forecast for 2020:
Endomines has achieved significant operational milestones at 
the Friday mine in Idaho, USA. During Q4, efforts were made to 
complete the commissioning of the mine and to take over the 
mining operations. In December, Endomines’ management took 
over the mining operations on Friday after acquiring the necessary 
equipment for mining operations. By the end of December, 
Endomines had completed all pre-production development 
before the drilling of the first stope excavation in January 2020. 
In addition to the successes at the mine, Endomines also brought 
the enrichment facility into operation. In December, Endomines 
enriched 420.5 tons of mineralized material with a gold content of 
2.65 g/t Au, giving 2.65 tons of concentrate with a content of 189.2 
g/t Au. The enriched material comes from layers of low-grade ore 
derived from the mine development and does represent typical 
Friday mine ore.

Endomines is currently working on updating the mine life pro-
jections based on commissioning of the plant and updating of 
the mining methods. When this is completed, Endomines will re-
lease an updated production forecast for the Friday mine.

Future liquidity development
After the reporting period, Endomines has completed the sub-
scription of 2 loans amounting to EUR 3.4 million (SEK 36.9 mil-
lion) and EUR 2.8 million (SEK 30 million) including warrants. If 
the warrants are exercised, this may bring in up to EUR 1.8 million 
to the company. In addition, the company made a directed is-
sue amounting to EUR 1.3 million (SEK 14.1 million). This financing 
covers the company’s requirements for the short-term capital 
employed for completion of the production scaling up at the 
Friday mine, as well as, the exploration and development costs 
in Finland and Idaho, USA for the near future. However, in order 
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to carry out the company’s long-term growth strategy, addition-
al funding may be needed during 2020. The company actively 
evaluates financing alternatives for stated purposes and is also 
prepared to postpone measures pending financing. The Board’s 
assessment is that due to the implemented measures, existing 
working capital will be sufficient for the next twelve-month peri-
od after the end of the reporting period.

Corporate governance
The Corporate Governance Report is a separate report, which is 
attached on the next page.

Proposal for profit distribution
At the disposal of the Annual General Meeting is in SEK:
Premium fund 713 439 299
Balanced loss  -553 024 466
Profit for the year -39 995 559

Total  120 419 274

The Board proposes that no dividend be paid for the year 2019 and 
that SEK 120 419 274 be transferred into a new account.

Annual General Meeting 2020
Due to the Coronavirus, the AGM has been temporarily post-
poned. Endomines will return with a new notice to the AGM no lat-
er than four weeks before the new date. The AGM will be held no 
later than June 30 in accordance with current legislation. For the 
rest of the business, reference is made to the income statement 
and balance sheet below, cash flow analysis, notes and related 
comments. Unless otherwise stated, all amounts are in thousands 
of SEK (KSEK).
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ENDOMINES CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 2019

This corporate governance report describes Endomines’ cor-
porate governance, including management and directing of 
the company’s operations and internal control over financial re-
porting. The corporate governance of Endomines aims to cre-
ate good conditions for active and responsible ownership, the 
appropriate distribution of responsibilities between corporate 
bodies and good communication with all the company’s stake-
holders.

Swedish Code of Corporate Governance
Corporate governance in Endomines is based on Swedish legis-
lation, the Swedish Code of Corporate Governance (the ”Code”), 
NASDAQ OMX Stockholm’s regulations for issuers, and the in-
ternal instructions and policy documents that the company has 
drawn up and adopted.

Endomines reports no deviations from the Code.

Share capital and shareholders
As of 31 December 31 2019, Endomines has a share capital of SEK 
240,157,105 divided into 79,957,043 shares and the same number 
of votes. A large part of the shares is owned by trustees. The only 
known shareholders that own more than 10 percent of the shares 
are Joensuun Kauppa ja Kone Oy. The second largest and third 
largest owner, each with nominally more than 10 percent of the 
shares, represent a number of different shareholders as manag-
ers.
 

Number of 
shares Ownership (%)

Joensuun Kauppa ja Kone Oy 9 438 284 11,80

Nordea Bank Abp,  
Nordea Bank Ab (Publ)   8 848 634 11,07

Handelsbanken Finland  
Standard Client A/C 8 530 263 10,67

Current information on shareholder structure is available on the 
company website. 

Annual General Meeting
In accordance with the Companies Act, the AGM is the compa-
ny’s highest decision-making body. At the AGM, shareholders 
exercise their voting rights on key issues, such as the establish-
ment of balance sheets and income statements, disposition of 
the company’s earnings, granting discharge from liability for the 
Board and the CEO, election of Board members and auditors, 
and remuneration to the Board and auditors. In addition to the 
AGM, Extraordinary General Meetings can be held.

Notice of the AGM and any EGM, where amendments of the 
Articles of Association are discussed shall be issued no earlier 
than six and no later than four weeks before the Meeting. Notice 
of other EGM shall be issued at the earliest six and no later than 
three weeks before the meeting. In accordance with the Articles 
of Association, notice of the AGM and EGM are published in 
Post- och Inrikes Tidningar and on the company’s website. That 
a notice has been announced shall be published in Svenska Dag-
bladet.

All shareholders, who are directly registered in the share reg-
ister kept by Euroclear Sweden AB, and have announced their 
intention to attend (with any assistants), five working days prior to 
and latest by the date and time stated in the notice, shall have the 
right to attend and vote on shareholding.

All shareholders, whose shares are nominee-registered with 
Euroclear Finland Ltd, have to be be registered in the temporary 
shareholder register drawn up by Euroclear Finland Ltd, and have 
announced their intention to attend (with any assistants), by the 
date and time stated in the notice, shall have the right to attend 
and vote on shareholding.

Annual General Meeting 2019
At the AGM on 10 June 10 2019, the following decisions were 
agreed upon:

Provision regarding Endomines AB’s (publ) earnings and dis-
charge from liability for the members of the Board of Directors 
and the CEO.

The AGM resolved to adopt the income statement and bal-
ance sheet for 2018 for the Parent company and the Group. 

The Meeting decided that no dividend would be paid and that 
the company’s available funds will be allocated in a new account, 
SEK -29,819,771 will be transferred. The Meeting resolved to grant 
discharge to the members of the Board and the CEO for the 2018 
administration.

Board of Directors
The Meeting resolved that the Board shall consist of five mem-
bers without deputies. Ingmar Haga, Thomas Hoyer, Michael 
Mattsson and Rauno Pitkänen were re-elected as board mem-
bers and Jeremy Read was elected and appointed as a new board 
member. Ingmar Haga was re-elected as Chair of the Board.

Directors’ fees
The Meeting resolved that fees to the Chair of the Board shall be 
paid at an unchanged amount of SEK 350,000 per year; and for 
other Board members at an unchanged amount of SEK 200,000 
per Board member per year; however, no fees shall be paid to 
Board members employed by the company; that fees for the 
Board member’s work in the Remuneration Committee, the Audit 
Committee and the Technology and Security Committee shall be 
paid with an unchanged amount of SEK 25,000 per Board mem-
ber per year for each such committee that the Board member 
works in, that the Chair of the Audit Committee and the Technol-
ogy and Security Committee shall be paid SEK 50,000 per year; 
and a fee of SEK 3,000 per physical Board meeting shall be paid.

Guidelines for remuneration to senior executives
The Meeting resolved to approve the Board’s proposal for guide-
lines for remuneration to senior executives.

Reduction of share capital for loss coverage
The Meeting resolved to reduce the company’s share capital by 
SEK 43 102,799, without cancellation of shares, for loss coverage. 
Through the reduction, the share capital will be reduced from 
SEK 283,259,904 to SEK 240,157,105. 
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Rights issue
The Meeting resolved to approve the Board’s decision on a new 
share issue. To enable the new share issue to be completed, the 
Meeting resolved, in accordance with the Board’s proposal, also 
to amend the Articles of Association, a reduction of share capital 
and a bonus issue.

According to the terms of the rights issue, the right to sub-
scribe for shares with preferential rights shall be added to share-
holders, who are registered as shareholders in the company on 
the record date, 12 June 2019, whereby such shareholders have 
the right to receive one (1) subscription right for each share held 
on the record date. Three (3) subscription rights entitle to sub-
scribe for four (4) new shares. The subscription price is SEK 3.50 
per share, which upon full subscription will bring in an issue liqui-
dation of approximately SEK 165 million before issue costs. The 
subscription period runs from 14 June 2019 through to 1 July 2019.

Annual General Meeting 2020
The 2020 AGM has been temporarily postponed due to the coro-
navirus. Notice of the AGM will be sent out by Endomines’ Board 
at a later stage.

Nomination
At the 2019 Annual General Meeting, a decision was taken on the 
procedure for appointing the Nomination Committee for the 2020 
AGM. The tasks of the Nomination Committee include: to submit 
proposals for the number of board members and candidates, as 
well as fees to the board and auditors, for resolutions at the next 
AGM. The procedure for appointing the nomination committee 
is described below.

The Nomination Committee shall consist of three members, 
two of whom shall represent major shareholders and the third 
shall be the Chair of the Board. During the fall of 2019, the Chair 
of the Board will contact the major shareholders based on votes 
as of 31 August 2019 in order to establish the Nomination Com-
mittee. The shareholders who at the time are the largest share-
holders in terms of voting rights, have the right to appoint each 
representative, together with the Chair of the Board, to consti-
tute the Nomination Committee for the period until the next 
AGM. The composition of the Nomination Committee shall be 

published on the company’s website as soon as it has been ap-
pointed and no later than six months before the AGM.

The majority of the Nomination Committee’s members shall 
be independent of the company and the company’s manage-
ment, and at least one of the members shall be independent 
of the company’s largest shareholders or, if applicable, a group 
of shareholders if they cooperate with the company’s manage-
ment. The CEO or member of the management team may not 
be a member of the Nomination Committee and the majority of 
the members may not be Board members.

The Nomination Committee appoints a Chair. The Chair of 
the Board shall not be the Chair of the Nomination Commit-
tee. If the member leaves the Nomination Committee before its 
work is completed, a replacement shall, if deemed necessary, 
be appointed by the shareholder represented by the departing 
member or, if this shareholder no longer belongs to the largest 
shareholder in terms of voting rights, by the new shareholder 
belonging to this group. If, during the term of the Nomination 
Committee, one or more of the shareholders represented by 
members of the Nomination Committee no longer belong the 
larger shareholders in terms of voting, members representing 
these shareholders must make their seats available and the 
shareholder or shareholders added among the larger sharehold-

ers to appoint their representatives or representatives. Howev-
er, unless special reasons exist, no changes shall be made in 
the composition of the Nomination Committee if only marginal 
changes in shareholding has taken place or if the change occurs 
later than two months before the AGM, where the proposal from 
the Nomination Committee is to be considered.

The task of the Nomination Committee is to present propos-
als to the AGM regarding the number of Board members and 
candidates to be elected by the Meeting, Board and Auditor 
fees, any remuneration for committee work, the composition of 
the Board, Chair of the Board, Chair of the AGM, and the deci-
sion on the Nomination Committee and, if applicable choice of 
auditors.

Nomination Committee 2019
The following members were appointed to the Nomination 
Committee for the 2020 Annual General Meeting: Ingeborg 
Åkermarck, (Chair of the Nomination Committee), representing 
Wipunen Varainhallinta Oy / Mariatorp Oy, Kyösti Kakkonen, rep-
resentative Joensuun Kauppa ja Kone Oy and Ingmar Haga as 
Chair of Endomines AB.

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS AND PRESENT CALENDAR 
YEAR 2019 Elected  Board   

Audit 
Committee  

Remuneration 
Committee  

Technology, 
Environment  

& safety Independent

Ingmar Haga 2018 22 4                       3 Yes

Rauno Pitkänen 2010 22 3 Yes

Michael Mattsson 2017 20  4 Yes

Thomas Hoyer**) 2018 19 2 2 No **)

Jeremy Read***) 2019 11 2 No ***)

Staffan Simberg *) 2011  8 2 Yes

Total max. number of meetings

*) Resigned from the Board after the 2019 Annual General Meeting
**) Not independent of the company’s significant shareholders Joensuun Kauppa ja Kone Oy based on several joint investments and other business relationships between  
 JKK and Board member
***) Not independent of the company’s major shareholders TVL Gold LLC, whose principal shareholder is Greg Smith CEO of Endomines AB (publ). Jeremy Read currently serves 
  as CEO of Greg Smith’s family office company Wentworth-Capital based in London
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Board of Directors
The Board meets at least six times a year. In accordance with 
the Articles of Association, the Board of Endomines shall consist 
of a minimum of three and a maximum of eight members with 
a maximum of four deputies. Board members are appointed 
for a maximum of one year at a time. The company’s CEO is 
not a member of the Board. Endomines’ Board consists of five 
members.

The Board’s responsibilities include: taking responsibility for 
the company’s organization and management of the company’s 
affairs, ensuring that the company’s organization is designed in 
such a way that accounting, asset management and the compa-
ny’s financial conditions are monitored in a satisfactory manner, 
and continuously assessing the company and the Group’s finan-
cial situation. The Board is responsible for the shareholders of the 
organization and management of the company.

The Board shall establish rules of procedure for the Board and 
an instruction for the CEO. It is also the Board that decides on 
any amendments to the adopted rules of procedure for the Board 
and instructions for the CEO.

Independence of the Board
All Board members are independent in relation to the company 
and company management. Thomas Hoyer is not independent 
of the company’s significant shareholders Joensuun Kauppa ja 
Kone Oy and Jeremy Read is not independent of the company’s 
significant shareholders TVL Gold.

Committees
The Board has set up three committees within it: the Remuner-
ation Committee, the Audit Committee and the Committee on 
Technology, Environment and Safety, with responsibility for pre-
paring questions on each area of responsibility.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee prepares questions regarding re-
muneration and other terms of employment for the company’s CEO 
and senior executives. In particular, the Remuneration Committee 
submits proposals to the Board regarding remuneration principles, 
remuneration and other terms of employment for the company’s 
management. The members of the Remuneration Committee are 
Ingmar Haga (Chair) and Thomas Hoyer. In 2019, the Remuneration 
Committee met 4 times.

 
Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is responsible for assisting the Board in 
its work regarding quality assurance of the company’s financial 
reporting, internal control and risk management. In addition to 
this, the Audit Committee reviews the annual accounts and the 
consolidated accounts, meets with the company’s auditor reg-
ularly, monitors the auditors’ independently, evaluates the audit 
effort and assists the nomination committee in compiling pro-
posals for auditors and determining their remuneration.

Members of the Audit Committee are Michael Mattsson 
(Chair) and Jeremy Read.

In 2019, the Audit Committee met 4 times.

Committee on Technology, Environment and Safety
The Committee for Technology, the Environment and Safety, 
together with the company’s management, has the task of 
reviewing the exploration and drilling plans and acting as general 
adviser on issues related to technology, environment and safety. 
Members of the committee are Rauno Pitkänen (Chair) and 
Ingmar Haga. The Committee has had three recorded meetings 
in 2019. The Committee has also visited both the Pampalo mine 
and the Friday mine during the year.

The work of the Board during 2019
During the calendar year 2019, the Board held 22 Board meetings.

In order for the Board to gain insight into the business, the 
Board strives to visit at least once a year some of the mines.

The ordinary meetings shall deal with the CEO’s report on the 
activities relating to, among other things, the company’s eco-
nomic and financial position, security, production and develop-
ment of operations. In addition, the quarterly, interim and annual 
accounts are reviewed. In addition, during the year, the Board 
discussed questions concerning:

• January: Financing issues
• February: Year-end report and bonds
• March: Exploration issues, liquidity issues
• April: Annual Report
• May: Termination of CEO agreement and appointment of the 

acting CEO, quarterly report, decision on share issue
• June: Consultancy agreement with Greg Smith, statutory 

board meeting after the AGM 2018 with rules of procedure for 

Boards and Committees, inclusion of committee members, 
CEO instructions, meeting schedule for 2019

• July: Decision on allocation of shares after the rights issue 
• August: Quarterly report, project update
• October: Project update
• November: Appointment of CEO, Q3 report, project update 
• December: Budget, prospecting, project update, financing 

issues, strategy issues

During the year, the Board conducted an evaluation of its work 
under the leadership of the Chair of the Board. The evaluation 
has ensured that the basic intentions of the Code have been fol-
lowed and the outcome has been reported in the nomination 
committee by the Chair of the Board.

CEO and other senior executives
The CEO is responsible for the management and development 
of the company before the Board of Directors and is in charge of 
the day-to-day management of the company’s affairs. The CEO 
is in charge of any decisions required to develop the company’s 
operations in accordance with the Companies Act, the business 
model established by the Board, the company’s budget, the 
CEO’s rules of procedure and other guidelines and instructions 
issued by the Board. The CEO must take the necessary steps to 
ensure that the company’s accounts are maintained in accordance 
with the law and that its assets are managed in a satisfactory 
manner.

Endomines’ CEO and Board together prepare the work 
order regarding the CEO’s duties and reporting duties. The 
CEO’s instructions are confirmed annually at a Board meeting 
immediately after the AGM.

Benefits
Principles and guidelines
The AGM decides on fees to the Board. Board fees are not paid 
for board assignments in subsidiaries. If a board member is em-
ployed by Endomines, he shall not receive any special remuner-
ation for board work. The remuneration of the President and 
senior executives is determined by the Board of Directors after 
being proposed by the Remuneration Committee. The company 
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has also decided on guidelines for remuneration to senior execu-
tives, which are described below.

Remuneration to the Board
Fees to the Board of Directors, including fees for committee 
work, amounted to a total of SEK 1,073,000 in 2019, distributed 
within the Board in accordance with Note 5 in the Annual Report 
2019. For resolved fees to the Board, see above under section 
Annual General Meeting 2019.

Remuneration to the CEO and other senior executives consists 
of basic salary, variable remuneration, other benefits and pen-
sions. The basic salary, which underlies total remuneration shall 
be proportionate to the manager’s responsibilities and powers.

Share and share-related incentive programs
There are currently no incentive programs in place.

Audit
The auditor shall review the company’s annual accounts and 
annual report, along with the administration of the Board of 
Directors and the Managing Director. After each financial year, 
the auditor shall submit an audit report and a group audit report 
to the AGM.

The auditor is appointed by the AGM each year. The regular 
auditor at Endomines AB since the EGM on 16 December 2005 
is the auditing company PricewaterhouseCoopers AB, Torsgatan 
21, 113 97 Stockholm. Authorized Public Accountant Martin Gus-
tav Johansson has been the Chief Auditor since the AGM 2013. 
PricewaterhouseCoopers AB was re-elected auditor at the last 
AGM 2019 for the period up to the end of AGM 2020. Auditor for 
Kalvinit Oy and Endomines Oy since 2009 has been Pricewater-
houseCoopers Oy with Ylva Mikaela Eriksson as registered su-
pervising accountant.

During the year, the auditor participated in all four audit com-
mittee meetings of the year. None of these meetings were held 
without the company’s management.

Remuneration to the Endomines Group’s auditors is paid in 
accordance with approved current accounts. During 2019, com-
pensation of SEK 1,076,000 was paid to Endomines AB’s auditor 
PricewaterhouseCoopers AB, of which SEK 548,000 related to 
assignments other than audit assignments; and SEK 325,000 was 
paid to the Finnish subsidiaries’ auditor PricewaterhouseCoop-

ers Oy, of which SEK 88,000 related to assignments other than 
audit assignments.

Financial reporting and internal 
control
In accordance with current legislation, stock exchange rules and 
any other applicable regulations at the given time, the compa-
ny strives to regularly provide accurate, reliable and up-to-date 
financial information. The financial information is published reg-
ularly in the form of:

• Annual Report
• Interim reports
• Press releases containing news and essential events which may 

affect the stock market price

The Board of Directors and the CEOhave overall responsibility for 
internal control over financial reporting. The Board is responsible 
for documenting how the quality of the company’s financial 
reporting is assured and how the company communicates with 
its auditor. The Board has also appointed an Audit Committee, 
whose responsibilities include overseeing the financial reporting, 
internal control and work with the external auditors.

Internal control of financial reporting within Endomines is de-
signed to achieve high reliability in external reporting. Within En-
domines, internal control over the financial reporting includes: 
ensuring efficient and reliable management, and accounting of 
purchases and sales, as well as other income accounts and ac-
counting for the company’s financing.

The control environment within Endomines forms the frame-
work for the orientation and culture that the company’s Board 
and management communicate to the organization. Internal di-
recting and control in accordance with established frameworks is 
a priority area for management work. Endomines’ Board of Direc-
tors and management define and design decision-making paths, 
powers and responsibilities that are clearly stated and commu-
nicated in the organization. The company’s Board of Directors 
also strives to ensure that governing documents, such as inter-
nal policies and guidelines, identify and include significant areas 
and provide the right guidance for the work of various executives 
within the company.

The Board’s report on internal control
This report mainly concerns internal control over financial 
reporting. The internal control of Endomines aims to provide 
reasonable assurance that the company assets are protected, and 
financial reporting is reliable and in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles, laws and regulations.

The structure for internal control and control measures is de-
signed to meet the requirements of a regulated market, taking 
into account the size and degree of complexity of the business.

Endomines uses COSO’s framework when describing and 
evaluating internal control.

The control environment
The control environment consists of company values and 
culture. Endomines has a unified business and flat organization 
model, which participating everyone from the Board through to 
company management to staff in the business and its activities. 
The Board has the overall responsibility for internal control. The 
Board of Directors has established a set of rules of procedure for 
its work and also appointed an audit committee. The role of the 
Audit Committee as the Board’s body is to oversee the financial 
reporting, internal control and work with the external auditors.

Endomines has a set of rules and procedures for financial 
reporting, including an accounting and administration manual. 
The manual consists of of accounting principles, finance policy, 
purchasing procedures and reporting procedures. In addition, 
delegation of powers and rules for approving transactions within 
the company and with external parties is included.

Risk assessment
Endomines faces a number of risks and uncertainties that could 
adversely affect the company’s ability to fulfill its exploration and 
development plans and to successfully mine and refine ore. The 
risks include: the size of the mineral reserves, the conditions for 
mining and ore processing of the ore, the estimated develop-
ment potential, exploration, the valuation of the mining assets, 
environmental permits and environmental costs, and various risks 
of a financial nature.

Control activities
Endomines’ management has documented and evaluated 
controls associated with risks of unreliable reporting. This 
summary document is maintained by Endomines’ CFO. The 
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control activities are designed to prevent and detect errors and/
or fraud, in a manner and extent that is appropriate to the size 
and complexity of the business.

These controls include established accounting principles, pro-
cess controls and reconciliations, rules for approval of transac-
tions, restriction of rights in systems and analytical procedures for 
all financial items. Unexpected deviations are followed up by the 
CFO and Controller.

Endomines has contracts with service providers in Sweden, Fin-
land and the United States, to provide accounting services for its 
operations. The services include accounting, supplier accounts, 
salaries and related checks such as account reconciliations and 
conformity with laws and regulations.

Information and communications
In addition to the company adhering to industry practices, laws 
and regulations, Endomines follows the following information 
disclosure principles:

• seriousness and honesty
• clearly underlining the company’s basic values and agenda
• openness and equal treatment to promote the company’s de-

velopment.

Liaison and investor contacts
Endomines has a communication policy that establishes the prin-
ciples and rules for how it communicates with its shareholders 
and other stakeholders. Press releases, quarterly and annual re-
ports are published on the company’s website www.endomines.
com. Reports, including financial reports, are delivered to the 
Board each month. Due to the size of the company, close com-
munication is kept between the Board, corporate management 
and the rest of the business.
 
Monitoring
The monitoring of financial results and financial position is closely 
monitored on several levels. For the operating units, results are 
analyzed at a detailed level and reported to the Group’s CFO. The 
Audit Committee reviews the financial reports before they are 
approved by the Board. The Safety, Environment and Technology 
Committee reviews press releases and information regarding 
technical data (mineral reserves, mineral resources, exploration 
and nuclear drilling results, etc.).

Auditor’s opinion on the Corporate 
Governance Report
To the Annual General Meeting of Endomines AB (publ), 
corporate registration number 556694-2974

Assignments and division of responsibilities
The Board of Directors is responsible for the Corporate 
Governance Report for 2019 on pages 19-25, and that it has been 
prepared in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act. 

The focus and scope of the review
Our audit was conducted in accordance with FAR’s statement 
RevU 16 Auditor’s review of the Corporate Governance Report. 
Therefore, our audit of the Corporate Governance Report has 
a different focus and a significantly smaller scope compared to 
the focus and scope of an audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing and generally accepted auditing 
standards in Sweden. We believe that this review provides us with 
a sufficient basis for our statements.

Statement
A Corporate Governance Report has been prepared. Information 
provided is in accordance with Chapter 6 §6, 2nd paragraph, 
clauses 2–6 of the Annual Accounts Act and Chapter 7 §31, 2nd 
paragraph, the same law is compatible with the annual accounts 
and the consolidated accounts and is in accordance with the 
Annual Accounts Act. 

Stockholm, April 29, 2020 
PricewaterhouseCoopers AB

Martin Johansson
Authorized Public Accountant, 
Chief Auditor

Anna Rozhdestvenskaya
Authorized Public Accountant
Associate Public Accountant

The Audit Committee and the Board holds discussions with 
the external auditor to obtain information on the auditor’s work, 
such as any deficiencies found in the financial reporting or inter-
nal control.

Endomines has a simple legal and operational structure. In 
addition, the management has a close and “hands-on” approach 
to supervision in all significant operations and at various levels in 
the company. Therefore, the Board does not consider a separate 
internal control function or internal audit necessary.

Endomines har en enkel både juridisk och operativ struktur. 
Förvaltningen har dessutom en nära, ”hands-on”, övervakning av 
alla betydande verksamheter på olika nivåer i företaget. Därför 
anser styrelsen inte att en separat internkontrollfunktion eller in-
tern revision är nödvändig.
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BOARD OF  
DIRECTORS 

All board members are independent from the company and the management, Thomas Hoyer 
is not independent of the company´s significant shareholder Joensuun Kauppa ja Kone Oy, 
and Jeremy Read is not independent of the company’s significant shareholder TVL Gold. 
Other board members are independent of major owners.

Ingmar Haga (1951)
Chairman of the Board since 2018 and 
Board member since 2018. Chairman 
of the Remuneration Committee, 
Member of the Technology, Envi-
ronment and Safety Committee. In-
dependent of the Company and its 
signicifant shareholders.
Education: M.Sc. Åbo Akademi, Fin-
land
Experience: Managing Director, 
Europe for Agnico Eagle Mines Ltd 
2006–2017, CEO of Polar Mining Oy, 
a Finnish subsidiary of Dragon Mining 
NL 2003–2005. in 1982–2003 various 
senior manager positions with the 
Outokumpu Group in Finland and 
Canada. Board member of Auriant 
Mining AB since 2012.
Holdings in Endomines AB: 800,000 
shares

Thomas Hoyer (1974)
Board member since 2018, member 
of the Remuneration Committee. Not 
independent of the Company’s signi-
ficant shareholder Joensuun Kauppa 
ja Kone Oy based on multiple joint 
investments and other business re-
lations between JJK and the Board 
member.
Education: M.Sc. (Economics and Bu-
siness Administration) from the Swe-
dish School of Economics in Helsinki.
Experience: Ruukki Group, CFO 
2010–2011, CEO 2011–2013, Ruukki 
Wood, CEO 2009–2010, Aldata Solu-
tion, CFO 2003–2008, Invision Asset 
Management AG 2002–2003, Bel-
levue Asset Management AG 2000–
2002, Allianz Asset Management 
GmbH 1998–2000.
Holdings in Endomines AB: 0 shares

Rauno Pitkänen (1950)
Board member since 2010. Chair-
man of the Technical Committee. In-
dependent of the Company and its 
signicifant shareholders..
Education: M.Sc. (Geology, Mining 
and Metal Processing), Helsinki Uni-
versity of Technology.
Experience: Senior manager posi-
tions at Sandvik Mining and Construc-
tion Finland Oy, Outokumpu Group 
and Tara Mines Ltd.
Holdings in Endomines AB:  
222 shares

Michael Mattsson (1973)
Board member since April 2017, Chair-
man of the Audit Committee. Indepen-
dent of the Company and its signicifant 
shareholders.
Education: M.Sc. Finance from 
Stockholm School of Economics
Experience: Current positions in-
clude: Chairman of Copperstone Re-
sources AB, Director of Nordic Iron 
Ore AB and Net Trading Group AB. 
M&A advisor in New York (working 
at the Blackstone Group), Enskilda 
Securities, Corporate Finance, Stock-
holm, and Kaupthing Funds, Invest-
ment Banking & Business Develop-
ment, Stockholm.
Holdings in Endomines AB: 4,664 
shares

Jeremy Read (1959)
Board member since April 2019. 
Member of the Audit Committee. Not 
independent of the company’s signifi-
cant shareholder TVL Gold LLC.
Education: B.Sc. (Economics), Uni-
versity of Bath
Experience: Since 2012, the mana-
ging director for the Wentworth Fa-
mily Office. Wentworth is associated 
with Greg Smith, the main sharehol-
der of TVL Gold LLC. UK qualified 
chartered accountant with extensive 
corporate finance experience across a 
wide range of areas, e.g. equity capi-
tal markets, M&A and general corpo-
rate advice. Prior the head of Global 
ECM at Daiwa Securities SMBC and 
head of Natural Resources and Emer-
ging Markets at Williams de Broe.
Holdings in Endomines AB: 0 shares
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Greg Smith (1960)
CEO from November 2019
Education: M.Sc. (Management sci-
ences) from The University of Nevada
Experience: Broad background in 
energy, merchant banking and re-
sources business from more than 30 
years working in senior management 
and executive positions. Chairman 
of Powder River Basin Gas Corpora-
tion 1998-2001, Executive Chairman 
of Petrolatina Energy Plc, 2004-2008, 
Executive Chairman and CEO of In-
ternational Consolidated Mines Inc, 
2005-2009. Most recently developed 
TVL Gold which was sold to Endomi-
nes in 2018.
Holdings in Endomines AB: 259,703 
shares

Marcus Ahlström (1982)
Deputy CEO and CFO from Novem-
ber 2019 CFO of Endomines AB from 
January 2018, Interim CEO from May 
2019 to October 2019
Education: M.Sc. (Economics and Bu-
siness Administration) from the Swe-
dish School of Economics in Helsinki
Experience: Various positions at 
Ernst & Young Oy, both at Transac-
tion Advisory Services and Assurance 
Services during the period 2007-2013, 
most recently as Business Controller 
at Finnlines Oy. Other key positions of 
trust are board member at Destia Oy.
Holdings in Endomines AB: 162,000 
shares

Seppo Tuovinen (1971)
General Manager, Endomines Oy 
from June 2019 President, Endomines 
Idaho Aug 2018 - Jun 2019; General 
manager, Endomines Oy (Finland) Jan 
2017- Aug 2018
Education: Master of Science degree 
in Mining from The Helsinki University 
of Technology in Finland as well as an 
MBA degree from Henley Manage-
ment College (2009)
Experience: 15 years’ experience 
from mining and mine development 
projects from Outokumpu Mining, 
Talvivaara Mining Oy, Altona Mining 
Oy and Kinross from Finland, Ireland 
and Russia
Holdings in Endomines AB: 0 shares

MANAGEMENT TEAM
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

KSEK Note 2019 2018

Net revenue  4 6 037 104 039

Change of stocks of finished goods and work-in-progress -1 779 -72

Other income 1 542 1 285

Total revenue 5 800 105 252

Raw materials and supplies -4 729 -12 434

Personnel expenses  5 -19 369 -28 657

Other expenses  6 -30 543 -69 657

EBITDA -48 841 -5 496

Depreciation and impairment  7, 11 -3 649 -42 956

Operating profit -52 490 -48 452

Financial income  8 3 098 22 579

Financial expenses  8, 11 -27 398 -11 624

Net financial items -24 300 10 955

Results before tax -76 790 -37 497

Deferred taxes 9 92 115

Profit and loss for the year -76 698 -37 382

KSEK Note 2019 2018

Other comprehensive income that will later be classified  
to the income statement

Translation differences 11 823 24 958

Other comprehensive income for the period, net after tax 11 823 24 958

Total profit and loss for the year -64 875 -12 424

Profit for the year attributable to:

Parent company shareholders -76 698 -37 382

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Parent company shareholders -64 875 -12 424

Earnings per share, based on earnings attributable to the parent 
company's shareholders

Earnings per share before and after dilution 27 -1,28 -1,10

Total earnings per share before and after dilution 27 -1,09 -0,36
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KSEK Not 2019 2018

Assets

Non-current asset

Intangible assets

Capitalized exploration expenses and valuation assets 10 371 334 355 286

Tangible assets

Land and buildings 10, 11 66 763 16 923

Machinery and equipment 10 59 383 50 458

Mine 10, 11 69 555 48 354

195 701 115 734

Financial assets

Other receivables 13, 14 5 478 5 395

5 478 5 395

Total non-current assets 572 513 476 415

Current assets

   Inventory 14, 15 37 1 762

   Other receivables 14, 16 568 766

   Prepaid expenses and accrued income 17 757 3 015

   Cash and cash equivalents 14, 18 15 727 18 931

Total current assets 17 089 24 474

Total assets 589 602 500 888

Equity and liabilities

Equity

Capital and reserves attributable to the owners of the parent  
company

   Share capital 240 157 281 182

   Other contributed capital 732 521 542 065

   Reserves 42 189 30 365

   Retained earnings -678 841 -601 921

Total equity 19 336 026 251 691

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

KSEK Not 2019 2018

Liabilities

Long-term liabilities

Borrowings 11, 20 4 718 5 019

Bond 20, 22 38 996

Convertible bond 20, 21 – 168 880

Other provisions 23 12 653 8 951

Total long-term liabilities 56 367 182 850

Current liabilities

Borrowings 11, 20 2 494 30 296

Convertible bond 20, 21 175 346 8 861

Other provisions 23 407 401

Accounts payable 9 810 17 152

Other liabilities 24 4 905 1 592

Accruals and advances received 25 4 247 8 045

Total current liabilities 197 209 66 347

Total liabilities 253 576 249 197

Total equity and liabilities 589 602 500 888
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CONSOLIDATED CHANGES OF SHAREHOLDERS´EQUITY

KSEK Share Capital
Other capital 

provided Reserves
Retained  
earnings Total Equity

Opening balance 1 Jan 2018 262 157 343 873 5 407 -566 056 45 381

Result for the period – – – -37 384 -37 384

Other comprehensive income – – 24 958 – 24 958

Total comprehensive income – – 24 958 -37 384 -12 426

Transactions with shareholders

Share issue, conversion of loan 29 513 6 029 – – 35 542

Rights issue 167 779 20 972 – – 188 751

Rights issue costs – -7 076 – – -7 076

Reduction of share quota value -178 267 178 267 – – –

Equity portion of convertible loan – – – 1 519 1 519

Total transactions with shareholders 19 025 198 192 – 1 519 218 736

Closing balance 31 December 2018 281 182 542 065 30 365 -601 921 251 691

Opening balance 1 Jan 2019 281 182 542 065 30 365 -601 921 251 691

Result for the period – – – -76 698 -76 698

Other comprehensive income – – 11 823 – 11 823

Total comprehensive income – – 11 823 -76 698 -64 875

Transactions with shareholders

Rights issue 133 935 21 548 – – 155 483

Rights issue costs – -8 129 – – -8 129

Reduction of share quota value -177 037 177 037 – – –

Convertible loan interest paid in shares 2 078 – – – 2 078

Equity portion of convertible loan – – – -221 -221

Total transactions with the shareholders -41 025 190 456 – -221 149 210

Closing balance 31 December 2019 240 157 732 521 42 189 -678 841 336 026
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

KSEK Note 2019 2018

Cash flow from operating activities

Profit/loss before tax 10 -76 790 -37 497

Adjusted for:

Depreciation  7 3 649 35 881

Impairment 10 – 7 075

Unrealized exchange rate differences on internal receivables and 
payables -2 237 -1 787

Remission of debt  – -20 513

Other items 1 893 893

Cash flow before change in working capital -73 485 -15 948

Change in working capital -5 456 8 341

Cash flow from operating activities -78 941 -7 607

Cash flow from investing activities

Purchase of intangible fixed assets 10 -6 975 -8 871

Purchase of tangible fixed assets 10 -75 080 -90 866

Acquisition of subsidiaries – -59 176

Sale of tangible fixed assets 10 1 747 –

Cash flow from investing activities -80 308 -158 913

Cash flow before financing activities -159 249 -166 520

Cash flows from financing activities

Rights issue 19 155 523 188 753

Rights Issue costs 19 -8 129 -5 842

Borrowings 30 55 041 –

Repayment of borrowings 30 -46 490 -16 016

Cash flow from financing activities 155 945 166 895

KSEK Note 2019 2018

Decrease/increase in liquid assets -3 303 375

Liquid assets at the beginning of the period 18 931 15 813

Effect of exchange rate changes on liquid assets 99 2 743

Liquid assets at the end of the period 15 727 18 931
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PARENT COMPANY

KSEK Note 2019 2018

Net revenue  4 – –

Total – –

Costs for employee benefits 5 -2 068 -1 849

Other expenses 6 -14 795 -9 993

EBITDA -16 863 -11 842

Depreciation and impairment 7 -13 000 -125 000

Operating profit -29 863 -136 842

Financial income 8 16 688 5 202

Financial expenses 8 -26 912 -9 900

Net financial items -10 224 -4 698

Profit/loss before taxes -40 087 -141 540

Deferred taxes 9 92 115

 Result for the year -39 995 -141 425

Other comprehensive income that may later be classified to the income statement

Comprehensive result for the year -39 995 -141 425

Profit for the year attributable to:

Parent company shareholders -39 995 -141 425

Sum total result attributable to:

Parent company shareholders -39 995 -141 425

PARENT COMPANY STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS
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PARENT COMPANY BALANCE SHEET

PARENT COMPANY

KSEK Note 2019 2018

Assets

Non-current assets

Financial assets

Shares in Group companies 12 334 848 329 200

Receivables from Group companies 241 374 128 752

Total non-current assets 576 222 457 952

Current assets

Other receivables 16 400 418

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 17 429 139

Cash and cash equivalents 18 14 917 9 628

Total current assets 15 746 10 185

Total assets 591 968 468 137

Equity and liabilities

Equity

Capital and reserves attributable to the owners of the parent company

Share capital 19 240 157 281 182

Unrestricted equity

Premium fund 713 439 522 983

Retained profit and loss -553 024 -411 377

Result for the year -39 996 -141 425

Unrestricted equity 120 419 -29 819

Total equity 360 576 251 363

PARENT COMPANY

KSEK Note 2019 2018

Liabilities

Long-term liabilities

Liabilities to Group companies 7 867 7 748

Convertible bond 21 – 168 880

Bond 20 38 996

Total long-term liabilities 46 863 176 628

Current liabilities

Borrowings 20 – 28 219

Convertible bond 21 175 345 8 861

Accounts payable 1 566 1 530

Other liabilities 24 3 862 127

Accrued expenses and advances received 25 3 756 1 409

Total current liabilities 184 529 40 146

Total liabilities 231 392 216 774

Total equity and liabilities 591 968 468 137
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PARENT COMPANY CHANGE IN EQUITY

KSEK Share Capital
Share Premium 

Account
Retainded  

Earnings Total Equity

Opening balance January 1, 2018 262 157 324791 -412 898 174 050

Profit for the year – – -141 423 -141 423

Share issue, conversion of loan 29 513 6 029 – 35 542

Rights issue 167 779 20 972 – 188 751

Rights issue costs – -7 076 – -7 076

Reduction of share quota value -178 267 178 267 – –

Reclassification of equity part of convertible loan – – 1 519 1 519

Total Equity 31 December 2018 and Opening Balance  
1 January 2019

281 182 522 983 -552 802 251 363

Profit for the year – – -39 996 -39 996

Rights issue 133 935 21 547 – 155 482

Convertible loan interest paid in shares 2 078 – – 2 078

Other – – -221 -221

Rights Issue costs – -8 129 – -8 129

Reduction of share capital -177 037 177 037 – –

Total equity 31 December 2019 240 157 713 438 -593 019 360 576
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PARENT COMPANY STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

KSEK Note 2019 2018

Cash flow from operating activities

Result before tax 30 -40 087 -141 540

Adjusted for:

  Depreciation and impairment that have affected the result 7 13 000 125 000

  Profit on sale of shares in other companies  2 727 –

  Unrealized exchange rate differences on internal receivables and payables -2 237 -1 787

Cash flow before change in working capital -26 597 -18 327

Reduction (+) / increase (-) of current receivables -5 892 -93 276

Reduction (-) / increase (+) of current liabilities 1 815 -1 889

Total decrease (+) / increase (-) in working capital -4 077 -95 165

Cash flow from operating activities -30 674 -113 492

Cash flow from investing activities

Acquisition of subsidiaries / operations, net cash effect – -59 176

Investment in subsidiaries -122 802 –

Cash flow from investing activities -122 802 -59 176

Cash flow from financing activities

Rights issue 155 523 188 753

Rights issue costs -8 129 -5 842

Short-term loan 30 55 041 -2 030

Repayment of borrowings 30 -43 670 -101

Cash flow from financing activities 158 765 180 780

Decrease/increase in liquid assets 5 289 8 112

Liquid assets at the beginning of the year 9 628 1 516

Liquid assets at the end of the year 14 917 9 628
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34 ENDOMINES AB (PUBL) I  ANNUAL REPORT 2019

NOTES 
The parent company Endomines AB is a public limited company 
registered based in Stockholm. The address of the head office is 
Abborrvägen 4A, 02170 Espoo. 

Endomines AB is listed on NASDAQ Stockholm and listed side 
by side at NASDAQ Helsinki. 

The annual accounts and consolidated accounts have been 
approved by Board of Directors on 29 April 29 2020 and will be 
subject to adoption at the next AGM. 

Unless otherwise stated, the notes to the financial statements 
below pertain to both the Group and the parent company. Unless 
otherwise stated, all amounts are in thousands of Swedish kronor 
(”KSEK”). 

Note 1. Significant accounting and 
valuation principles 
Unless otherwise stated, the accounting and evaluation principles 
set out below are applied consistently to the financial reports sub-
mitted.

General accounting principles 
The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accord-
ance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), 
interpretations from IFRS Interpretations Committee IFRIC IS as 
adopted by the EU and in accordance with the Annual Accounts 
Act (ÅRL) and RFR 1 Supplementary Accounting Rules for Groups. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the cost method, in addition to financial assets 
and liabilities, valued at fair value through the income statement. 

New and changed accounting principles in 2019 
None of the new and amended standards that the Group applies 
for the first time for fiscal year beginning 1 January 2019 has had a 
material impact on the Group’s accounting principles for the cur-
rent fiscal year or previous fiscal year’s and is not expected to have 
any significant impact on future periods. From 1 January 2019 the 
company applies IFRS 16 Leasing Agreement and IFRIC 23. 

• IFRS 16 Leasing Agreement 
 Endomines applies IFRS 16 as of 1 January 2019. This replaces 

all leasing requirements in accordance with IFRS. For the IFRS 

16 transition, Endomines has decided to apply the simplified 
approach and has not recalculated the comparative amount 
for 2018, the year before the adoption. The right of use for all 
assets is valued the amount of the lease debt upon adoption 
and adjusted for any prepaid or accrued leasing costs. 

IFRS 16 primarily affects the accounting of the leaseholder 
and its main effect is on leasing agreements before reported 
as operational leases. From 1 January 2019, according to IFRS 
16, no distinction is made between operational and finance 
leases, and both are recognized as rights-of-use and leasing 
debt. The Group applies one exception to the new rules; when 
accounting for leasing agreements with low value, no right-of-
use or leasing liability is recognized. 

The IFRS 16 impact was intangible on the opening balance 
sheets for the consolidated financial statements. As of 31 De-
cember 2019, the Group’s non-cancellable short-term leasing 
commitments (undiscounted) were approximately SEK 2.4 mil-
lion and long-term lease commitments (undiscounted) were 
approximately SEK 1.7 million. These are reported as right-of-
use and as debt. 

The Parent Company applies an exception to the rules in 
accordance with RFR 2, and does not apply IFRS 16. The Parent 
Company continues to report all leasing agreements as oper-
ational leases. As of 31 December 2019, the Parent Company 
had undiscounted lease liabilities of SEK 0.4 million. 

• IFRIC 23 Uncertainty Regarding Income Tax Treatment
 IFRIC 23 - Interpretation of uncertainty regarding income tax 

treatment came into effect on 1 January 2019. The transition 
had no effect on accounting. The Group has applied IFRIC 23 
on 1 January 2019. 

New and changed accounting principles in 2020 or later 
A number of accounting standards and interpretations have been 
published, but have not yet entered into force. .

Definition of Materiality - amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 
Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and 
IAS 8 Accounting Principles; changes in estimates and judg-
ments, as well as, errors clarifying materiality assessment and 
definition by users of financial reports. Definition of materiality 
- amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 came into force on 1 January 
2020.  

Definition of a Business - amendments to IFRS 3 
The amendment Definition of a Business to IFRS 3 Business ac-
quisitions now requires an evaluation of input resources (inputs) 
and outputs results (output) in the acquisition analysis process. In 
general, this change can result in more acquisitions being report-
ed as asset acquisitions and be included in a subsequent account 
of the acquired movements.  Definition of a business - amend-
ments to IFRS 3 entered into force on 1 January 2020

Revised framework for the preparation of financial reports 
(Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting) 
Endomines will apply the revised performance framework as of 
1 January 2020.  

Consolidated accounts (Consolidation Principles) 
Subsidiaries are all companies (including structured companies) 
over which the Group has controlling influence. Group controls a 
company when it is exposed to or entitled to variable return from 
its holding in the company and have the opportunity to influence 
returns through their influence in the company. Subsidiaries in-
cluded in the consolidated financial statements from the date 
when the controlling influence is transferred to the Group. They 
are excluded from the consolidated financial statements from 
the date the controlling influence ceases. The consolidated re-
sults and the balance sheets as of 31 December 2019, include the 
parent company and the subsidiaries Endomines Oy, Endomines 
Idaho LLC and Kalvinit Oy.

The Group’s internal transactions and balance sheet items, 
and unrealized gains from transactions between Group compa-
nies are eliminated. Unrealized losses are also eliminated, unless 
the transaction constitutes a proof that there is a need for impair-
ment of the transferred asset. Accounting principles for subsidi-
aries have been amended, where appropriate, to ensure consist-
ent application of the Group’s accounting principles. 

Segment reporting 
Currently there is only one facility, which the Group reports as a 
segment. It is centrally located on the Karelian Gold Line in Ilo-
mantsi municipality, eastern Finland, and the Group’s results are 
followed up and are valued in accordance with what is presented 
in the annual report. As the following plant is put into operation 
by 2020, the Group will evaluate the segmentation during the 
coming financial period. 
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Foreign currency translation 
(a) Functional currency and reporting currency 
Figures included in the financial statements of the various entities 
of the Group are valued in the currency of the economic envi-
ronment, where the company has its main activities (functional 
currency). The functional currency of the Finnish subsidiaries is 
EUR, and the US subsidiary is USD. The Group’s main transaction 
currencies have so far been USD for revenues, and EUR and USD 
for expenses of the subsidiaries in foreign countries, and Swedish 
kronor (SEK) for the parent company. 

Endomines AB as a Swedish listed company has chosen to re-
port Group figures in SEK (reporting currency). According to IAS 
21, p. 38, the choice of reporting currency can be made without 
any specific conditions being met. During the construction of the 
business and later share issues, the Group has mainly received fi-
nancing in SEK. As the business has changed a shift in the Group’s 
overall financial environment has also occurred, but SEK remains 
the dominant currency. The majority of the financing of the Group 
consists of equity financing in SEK and borrowings in EUR.  

(b) Transactions and balance sheet items 
Foreign currency transactions are translated to the functional 
currency at the exchange rates prevailing on the transaction date. 
Exchange rate gains and losses arising from such transactions, 
and when translating monetary assets and liabilities in foreign 
currency at the closing day rate, are reported in the statement. 

Exchange rate differences that arise from translating financial 
receivables and liabilities, are reported in the income statement 
under financial items, while other exchange rate differences are 
reported mainly under operating income. 

(c) Group companies 
The subsidiaries are located in Finland and the US, with EUR and 
USD as the local currencies. The income and financial position for 
these Group companies is translated to the Group’s reporting cur-
rency as follows: 

• assets and liabilities for balance sheets is translated to SEK from 
the local currency at the closing day rate

• income and expenses for income statements is translated at the 
average exchange rate for the year, and all exchange rate dif-
ferences which arise are reported separately as a part of equity 

Exchange rates used in this report for translation from EUR to 
SEK (comparison year in brackets) are in accordance with the 
Riksbank:

• closing day rate 10.4336 (10.2753) 
• average exchange rate 10.5892 (10.2567) 

Exchange rates used in this report for translation from USD to 
SEK are in accordance with the Riksbank: 

• closing day rate 9.3171 (8.9710) 
• average exchange rate 9,4604 (8,6921) 

Foreign exchange differences arising on consolidation are re-
ported as a result of translation of net investments in foreign op-
erations under other comprehensive income. When divesting a 
foreign operation, price differences are reported in the income 
statement under capital gain/loss. No divestments of foreign op-
erations have taken place during the past two years. 

Fair value adjustments arising on acquisition of a foreign op-
eration, are treated as assets and liabilities and are translated at 
the closing day rate. 

Intangible assets: :
Capitalized expenditure on exploration and valuation 
Exploration permits and capitalized exploration expenses are 
reported in accordance with IFRS 6 Prospecting for and the Eval-
uation of Mineral Resources. Exploration permits and capitalized 
exploration expenses are valued at cost, and refer to all expenses 
directly attributable to the exploration and valuation of mineral 
resources. Retained exploration and evaluation assets include ex-
penses for exploration permits; sample drilling, laboratory analy-
sis, enrichment tests and geological studies. When the technical 
opportunity and commercial feasibility of extracting a mineral 
resource can be demonstrated and mining is commenced, the 
retained development expenditure is no longer classified under 
exploration and evaluation assets. The assets are reclassified and 
reported in accordance with IAS 16 Tangible Fixed Assets and 
IAS 38 Intangible Assets respectively, depending on how the as-
sets have been reclassified. No amortization of the exploration 
and evaluation assets were made for the reclassification. 

Intangible fixed assets in the annual report refer to capitalized 
expenses relating to exploration and evaluation assets. 

Exploration and evaluation assets are tested for impairment 
and any impairment is reported, before reclassification. Impair-
ment requirements for exploration and evaluation assets is also 
considered, based on the requirements of IFRS 6, when facts and 
circumstances indicate that the value of the exploration and eval-
uation asset may exceed its recoverable amount. When facts and 
circumstances indicate that the amount exceeds recoverable val-
ue; revaluation, classification and information is provided based 
on the requirements of IAS 36 Impairment. No write-downs have 
been reported during 2018-2019. 

Tangible Fixed Assets 
Tangible fixed assets are recognized at cost with deductions for 
accumulated depreciation and impairment. Acquisition value in-
cludes expenses that can be directly attributed to the acquisition 
of the asset. 

Borrowing costs attributable to financing development and 
completion of qualified tangible fixed assets, that necessarily 
take significant time to complete (over 12 months), are included 
in the acquisition value. Activation of loan expenses has only hap-
pened in connection with the facilities built in 2010 at Pampalo. 
The amortization period is 10 years from March 2011. 

Development costs consist partly of mining of tunnels to 
gain access to the ore, and from works on roads,  and slant mine 
shafts, etc. Development costs incurred in order to increase min-
ing capacity, develop new sections of ore and to prepare mining 
areas for future ore production are capitalized. Additional ex-
penses are added to the asset’s reported value or recognized as 
a separate asset, whichever which is appropriate, only when it is 
probable that the future economic benefits associated with the 
asset will benefit the Group, and the asset’s acquisition value can 
be measured reliably. All other types of repairs and maintenance 
work is reported as expenses in the income statement during the 
period they occur.  

Depreciation and amortization principles for tangible fixed 
assets 
No depreciation is made of land assets. However, in order to 
distribute acquisition value in the depreciation of other assets, 
the residual value during the estimated useful life of the mine is 
used, and not for a period longer than the mine’s lifespan; and is 
calculated as follows: 
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• Capitalized development costs, facilities and equipment in 
mines are depreciated at the rate by which of ore extraction 
from the mine is utilized, i.e. with the production-dependent 
depreciation method (“unit-of-production method”). Depreci-
ation rates are based on mineral reserves and mineral resourc-
es, that are estimated to be extracted with current working 
methods. 

• Fixed buildings are depreciated on a straight-line basis over 
10 years 

• Engineering constructions (air and heating installations, eleva-
tors, etc.), which depreciate at a faster rate, are amortized on a 
straight-line basis over 5-10 years 

• Production machines and corresponding inventory are depreci-
ated on a straight-line basis over 5-10 years 

• Pumps and other technical equipment under heavy wear are 
depreciated on a straight-line basis over a maximum of 3 years 

• Cars and other transports are depreciated on a straight-line ba-
sis over a maximum of 5 years 

The Group applies component depreciation, which means that 
larger processing facilities (crushers, mills, flotation cells, etc.) are 
divided into subcomponents classified using different useful life 
and depreciation periods. 

The useful life of mines is calculated by counting the estimat-
ed ore resources of the deposit containing mineral reserves, and 
dividing this sum by the average estimated production plan per 
year. Mineral reserves are fully included in the calculation, whilst 
the rest of the mineral resources are recorded at a probable value 
based on a qualified assessment and past experience. Produc-
tion plans for the useful life of the mines are established annually. 

Assessments on whether an asset has decreased in value are 
made at the end of each reporting period. In such cases, the as-
set’s recoverable amount is calculated and adjusted if necessary. 
An asset’s recalculated value is immediately written down as its 
recoverable amount, if the asset’s carrying value exceeds its esti-
mated recoverable amount. See more on impairment tests below. 

Gains and losses on divestments are determined through 
comparison between sales revenue and carrying value, and is re-
ported in other gains/losses in the income statement. 

Financial assets 
Classification, accounting and valuation 
The Group only classifies its financial assets as assets that are rec-

ognized at amortized cost, when the following requirements are 
met: 
• The asset is part of a business model, where the goal is to col-

lect contractual cash flows and, 
• The contract terms give rise to cash flows at specific times, 

which consist solely of the capital sum and interest on the out-
standing capital sum. 

Accounts receivable and other receivables 
Accounts receivable and other receivables are financial assets, 
that are not derivatives and that have fixed or determinable pay-
ments and which are not listed on an active market. All accounts 
receivable and other receivables are included in current assets 
when their acquisition date is less than 12 months after the re-
porting period final. The Group’s assets in this category only 
comprise of cash, accounts receivable and other receivables. 

Accounts receivable and other receivables are recognized af-
ter the acquisition date to accrued acquisition value by applica-
tion of the effective interest method. 

Offsetting of financial instruments 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and reported with a sin-
gle net amount in the balance sheet, only when there is a legal 
right to offset the reported amounts and an intention to regulate 
them with a net amount or at the same time realizing the asset 
and settling the debt. There are no offsets of financial instru-
ments in this annual report. 

Impairment of financial assets 
For assets recognized at amortized cost
The Group applies the simplified method for calculating expect-
ed credit losses. The method uses expected losses for the entire 
period of the receivable, as the starting point for accounts receiv-
able and contract assets. 

Accounts receivable and contract assets are written off, when 
there is no reasonable expectation of a refund. Indicators that 
there is no reasonable expectation of repayment include i.e., the 
debtor failing with the repayment plan or contractual payments 
being over 120 days late. 

Loan losses on accounts receivable and contract assets are re-
ported as credit losses – in net as operating profit. Recoveries of 
previously written off amounts are reported against the same row 
in the income statement. 

No impairments of financial assets have been made since the 
group was formed.
Liquid assets
Liquid assets include cash, bank balances and others short-term 
investments with a payment date within three months from ac-
quisition. 

Share capital
Shares are classified as equity. Transaction costs directly attrib-
uted to the issue of new shares or options is reported, in net as 
rights issue costs, in equity as a single deduction from the issue 
proceeds.  

Borrowing 
Borrowing is initially recognized at fair value, in net as transaction 
costs. Borrowing is then reported to the accrued amount cost, 
and any difference between the amount received (net of transac-
tion costs) and the repayment amount is reported in the income 
statement distributed over the loan period, using the effective 
interest rate method. 

One of the Finnish subsidiaries has a loan with special con-
ditions from a municipal credit institution. The borrowing was 
meant for the financing of a specific development project, and 
repayment of capital and interest are conditional on the subsid-
iary reporting distributable earnings under Finnish law. Borrow-
ing was initially reported at fair value, in net as transaction costs 
and subsequently at amortized cost. The company’s policy is to 
apply IAS 20 to assess liabilities. Borrowing is classified under 
current liabilities, unless the Group has an unconditional right 
to defer payment of the debt at least 12 months after the bal-
ance sheet date. The loan in accordance with current provisions 
will be amortized on 31 December 2020, on the condition that 
the subsidiary reports distributable earnings under Finnish law. 
Interest expense is shown only in consolidated accounts where 
they arise. No loan repayments or interest payments have been 
made since the loan was taken out. 

Convertible bond
The Parent Company has an outstanding convertible bond, which 
relates to the acquisition of TVL Gold Idaho. The extraordinary 
general meeting held on 10 December 2019, decided to ap-
prove the Board’s proposal concerning changes to the terms of 
the convertible loan between Endomines and TVL Gold 1 LLC. 
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In essence, the condition change means that all of Endomines’ 
guaranteed convertibles issued under 2018 will be converted 
to shares in Endomines within four months, i.e. conversion is re-
quired, according to the following new conditions: 

• an annual interest rate of 10.0 percent (previously 6.0 percent), 
with accrued interest paid in cash, 

• the convertible holder must convert 50 percent of the loan 
amount to new shares in Endomines at a conversion price of 
SEK 5.85 per new share in Endomines, three banking days after 
the new conditions for the convertibles have been registered 
with the Swedish Companies Registration Office, and the re-
maining 50 percent at a conversion price of SEK 6.00 per share 
by 31 March 2020. 

For more information, see Note 21. 

Accounts payable 
Accounts payable are obligations to pay for goods or services, 
which have been acquired in ongoing operations from suppliers. 
Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if they ma-
ture within a year or earlier (or below normal business cycle if this 
is longer). Otherwise they are listed as long-term liabilities. All 
accounts payable in this annual report are short term. Accounts 
payable are reported to the accrued amount cost. 

Current and deferred income tax 
This year’s tax expense includes current and deferred tax. Taxes 
are reported in the income statement, except when the tax relates 
to items that are reported in other comprehensive income or di-
rectly in equity. In such cases, tax is also reported in other com-
prehensive income and equity. No taxes in this annual report have 
been reported otherwise, in total profits or directly against equity. 

The current tax cost on the balance sheet is calculated on 
the basis of current applicable tax rules in the countries, where 
the parent company and its subsidiaries operate and generate 
taxable income, i.e. Sweden, Finland and the US. Management 
regularly evaluates claims made in self-declarations regarding 
situations, where tax rules are subject to interpretation. Where 
deemed appropriate, it provides estimates for the likely taxes to 
be paid. 

Deferred tax is reported according to the balance sheet meth-
od, on all temporary differences that arise between the fiscal val-

ue of assets and liabilities, and their carrying values in the consol-
idated financial statements, see Note 9. Deferred tax however, is 
not recognized if it arises as a result of a transaction, which is the 
first account of an asset or liability which is not a business acquisi-
tion and which, at the time of the transaction, does not affect the 
reported or fiscal result. 

Deferred income tax on the balance sheet is calculated on the 
basis of current and applicable tax rates and laws, which are ex-
pected to apply when the deferred tax asset is is realized or the 
deferred tax liability is settled. Deferred tax assets are reported 
to the extent that they are likely to have a future fiscal surplus, 
against which the temporary differences can be exploited. No 
deferred tax has been reported since the balance sheet date of 
31 December 2014. 

Deferred tax is calculated on temporary differences that arise 
from shares in subsidiaries, and except where the timing of the 
reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled by the 
Group, and where it is likely that the temporary difference will not 
be reversed in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset, when there is a le-
gal set-off right for current tax assets and liabilities, and when the 
deferred tax assets or tax liabilities refer to taxes refer to already 
charged taxes, from the same tax authority, and refer to either 
the same taxpayer or different tax, where there is an intention to 
regulate balances through net payments. 

Employee benefits 
(a) Pension obligations 
The Group only has defined contribution pension plans. A fee-
based pension plan is a pension plan, according to which the 
Group pays a fixed fee to a separate legal entity. For defined con-
tribution pension plans, the Group pays contributions to public 
or privately administered pension insurance plans on a manda-
tory, contractual or voluntary basis. The Group has no additional 
payment obligations once the fees have been paid. The fees are 
reported as expenses for remuneration to employees when they 
are due for payment. Prepaid fees are reported as assets, where 
cash repayment or reduction of the future payments may benefit 
the Group. 

(b) Severance payments 
Severance pay is paid when an employee’s employment is ter-
minated before the regular retirement date or when an employ-

ee voluntarily resigns in exchange for such payment. The Group 
recognizes severance pay, when obliged to either terminate em-
ployees in accordance with a detailed formal plan without the 
possibility of revocation, or to make compensation in the event of 
termination, as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary 
retirement from employment. Benefits that decay after more than 
12 months from the balance sheet date are discounted to present 
value. No such benefits have existed since the Group was formed. 

Provisions 
Provisions for environmental restoration measures, restructuring 
costs and legal requirements are reported, when the Group has 
an existing legal or informal obligation as a result of past events; 
it is more likely that an outflow of resources is required to regulate 
the commitment than not, and the amount corresponds to the 
management’s best assessment of outcomes. No provisions are 
made for future operating losses. 

Provisions are valued at the present value of the amount es-
timated to be required to settle the obligation. In this case, a 
discount rate is used before tax reflecting the current market as-
sessment of the time-dependent value of money and any risks 
associated with the provision. 

In this annual report, the Group reports both provisions for 
environmental restoration measures and other provisions. Pro-
visions are made for estimated restoration costs of land from 
exploration and mining activities. Endomines has worked out an 
action plan for land restoration. An assessment of the reserved 
amount is made for each reporting period.

Other provisions relate to accrued interest costs for loans with 
specific conditions for repayment. 

If there are a number of similar commitments, the probability 
is assessed, as an outflow of resources at the overall regulation 
for the whole group of commitments may be necessary. A provi-
sion is also reported, where the probability of an outflow regard-
ing a particular item in this group of commitments is low. .

 
Revenue recognition 
Revenues include sales of gold concentrates and by-products, 
which are reported on delivery to the customer in accordance 
with the terms of sale, i.e. revenue is recognized when material 
rights and obligations associated with ownership are transferred 
to the buyer. Ownership according to current sales conditions is 
transferred, when the gold concentrate arrives to the buyer. Sales 
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is reported as the fair value of goods and services sold excluding 
VAT, discounts and exchange rate differences at sales in foreign 
currency. There were no internal Group sales of goods. 

The Group’s gold concentrate is recognized as revenue upon 
receipt of delivery from the customer. 

Revenue from flotation concentrate is calculated based on 
preliminary data of the concentrate quantity, gold content, gold 
price, including deductions for the reimbursement of treatment 
costs and contaminant content. Invoicing takes place the month 
after the delivery month, with essentially the same information 
as at delivery. Definitive billing occurs when all input parameters 
(concentrate quantity, metal content price, as well as contami-
nant content, etc.) for the agreed the pricing period are con-
firmed. The final price is set at the average price for gold, copper 
and silver for the month following the month of delivery. 

The revenue from gravimetric concentrate is provisionally cal-
culated on the basis of own analyzes of gold content in concen-
trate and the estimated gold price, with deductions for agreed 
the payment percentage. The final price is determined at the 
gold price of the day when the analyzes are approved by both 
the company and customer.

Revenue from activities outside ordinary operations is report-
ed as other operating income. 

Accounting principles for leasing 2018 
Financial leasing 
Leasing of fixed assets where the Group is essentially holds the fi-
nancial risks and benefits associated with ownership, is classified 
as financial leasing. 

At the beginning of the lease period, financial leasing is rec-
ognized in the balance sheet to the lower of the fair value of the 
lease and the present value of the minimum lease fees. Each lease 
payment is divided between amortization of debt and financial 
expenses to achieve a fixed interest rate for the reported debt. 
Corresponding payment obligations, after deductions of finan-
cials costs, are included in the balance sheet under long-term bor-
rowing and short-term borrowing. Interest reported in the income 
statement, is distributed over the lease period, so that each ac-
counting period is charged an amount corresponding to the fixed 
interest rate for the liability reported for the period. Fixed assets 
held under financial leasing agreements are depreciated over the 
shorter period of the asset’s useful life and the lease period. 

Inventories 
The Group’s inventories consist mainly of gold concentrate and 
gold ore. Inventories are reported at lower cost and net realizable 
values. The acquisition value is determined by using the ‘first-in, 
first-out’ method (FIFU). The cost for gold concentrate consists 
of gold ore from own mines, direct wages, other direct costs and 
attributable indirect manufacturing costs, including attributable 
depreciation based on normal manufacturing capacity. Net real-
izable value is estimated on the sales price of the gold content, in 
accordance with applicable sales terms, and deducting any ap-
plicable variable selling costs. 

Fair value calculation 
Nominal value, deducting expected customer losses, for ac-
counts receivable and accounts payable are assumed to corre-
spond to their actual values. Recognized value of financial liabili-
ties is essentially consistent with carrying value. 

Statement of cash flows 
Endomines reports cash flows from operating activities accord-
ing to the indirect method, whereby the result is adjusted for 
transactions that have not resulted in payments or payments, ac-
crued or prepaid items referring to past or future periods and for 
any revenue and expenses attributed to the investment or financ-
ing activities’ cash flows. Interest paid, as well as, interest and 
dividends received are attributed to operating activities, when 
the items affect reported results; and are specified in Note 30.

Parent company accounts 
The parent company has prepared its annual report in accord-
ance with the Annual Accounts Act (1995: 1554) and the Council 
for Financial Reporting Recommendation RFR 2 Accounting for 
legal entities, which means that the parent company in annual 
reports for legal entities, must apply all EU approved IFRS stand-
ards and regulations to the extent possible within the framework 
of the Annual Accounts Act, and considering the relationship be-
tween accounting and taxation. The recommendation specifies 
which exceptions and supplements are made from IFRS. 

Accordingly, the parent company applies the same accounting 
principles as reported by the Group, with the exception of shares 
in subsidiaries, which are reported at acquisition value after de-
duction for any impairment. The principles have been applied 
consistently to all presented years, unless otherwise stated. 

The Parent Company will apply any exception rules in accord-
ance with RFR 2, and do not apply IFRS 9. 

Note 2. Financial risk management 
Financial risk factors 
Through its operations, the Group is exposed to a variety of fi-
nancial risks: market risk (including currency and interest rate risk 
in fair value, interest rate risk in cash flows, and price risk), credit 
and counterparty risk, liquidity risk and cash flow risk. 

Note 31 presents a sensitivity analysis for the most important 
risks regarding financial assets and liabilities. The sensitivity anal-
ysis is based on the financial instruments available on the balance 
sheet date. The basic principle in the sensitivity analysis is to re-
port any isolated effect on profit after tax, on other comprehen-
sive income after tax or on equity, of a change in exchange rate, 
interest rate or price where all other variables are constant. 

(a) Market risk 
Demand for newly produced gold on the world market affects the 
Group’s profitability

(i) Price risk 
The Group is exposed to price risk, primarily in relation to the gold 
price fluctuations. The gold price is set daily by the LBMA (London 
Bullion Market Association). The company’s exposure to price fluc-
tuations may to some extent be limited by entering into hedging 
agreements regarding gold prices. There are no current hedging 
agreements on the balance sheet date.  

(ii) Currency risk 
The Group operates internationally and is exposed to currency 
risks from various currencies, mainly EUR and USD. All invoicing 
of gold concentrate takes place in USD, while production costs 
so far have been almost exclusively in EUR. Currency risk arises 
from future business transactions, reported assets and liabilities, 
as well as net investments in foreign operations. No currency 
hedging agreements apply at this time of the preparation of this 
annual report. 

(b) Credit and counterparty risk 
Credit and counterparty risk involves the risk of a counterparty in 
a transaction being unable to fulfill its commitment, thus causing 
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a loss for Endomines. In the case of Endomines, these refer to 
counterparty and credit risks primarily through liquid funds, cred-
it exposures relating to customers, including outstanding receiv-
ables and agreements transactions. To limit risk exposure only 
counterparties with high credit rating are accepted. The Group 
counterparty liquid assets are Nordea Bank in Sweden and Fin-
land, and PlainsCapital Bank in the US.

During the past two years, the Group had only two custom-
ers, Boliden Commercials AB for flotation concentrate, and Ras-
mussen AS for gravimetric concentrate. Management does not 
expect any credit losses as a result of non-payment from these 
counterparties. 

(c) Liquidity risk 
Caution in managing liquidity risk requires holding sufficient liq-
uid funds and marketable securities, available financing through 
sufficiently agreed credit facilities and the opportunity to close 
market positions. The Group’s ambition is in its current phase of 
operations, to ensure liquidity through owner financing (share is-
sues) and loan financing. 

Information on financial liabilities on the balance sheet are bro-
ken down by time remaining on the contractual due date are spec-
ified in Note 20. 

Accounts payable and other financial liabilities are due all within 
30 days of the balance sheet date. 

Information about so-called the loan covenants, as per previous 
agreement with Nordea Bank, which need to be fulfilled are spec-
ified in Note 20. 

(d) Interest rate risk with respect to cash flows and fair values 
Endomines has entered into financing agreements that run at 
fixed interest rates.

(e) Covid-19 and its effects 
As explained in the section on significant events after the period 
end and risks in Endomines’ operations; the COVID-19 outbreak 
and measures taken by governments to prevent its spread, have 
not significantly affected business during Q1 2020. In addition to 
the already known impact, macroeconomic uncertainty will cause 
a decline in economic activity and the long-term impact on the 
Group’s operations is currently unknown. The scope and duration 
of this pandemic is uncertain, but is currently not expected to 
further affect our business.

  Management of capital 
The Group’s goal regarding capital structure, is to secure the 
Group’s ability to continue its business activities, continuing to 
generate returns for shareholders, benefit others stakeholders 
and to maintain an optimal capital structure in order to keep 
down the cost of capital. 

In order to maintain or adjust capital structure, the Group may 
issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt 

Note 3. Important estimates and 
assessments for accounting purposes 
Preparing reports in accordance with IFRS requires the use of im-
portant accounting estimates. Furthermore, the management is 
required to make certain assessments on the application of the 
company’s accounting principles. Estimates and assessments are 
made on a continuous basis, and are based on historical data and 
other factors, including expectations on future events that are 
considered reasonable under current circumstances. 

Areas that include a high degree of assessment, either due 
to complexity or which have assumptions and estimates of sig-
nificant importance to consolidated financial statements, are 
listed in the section below. 

Impairment testing of tangible fixed assets 
Impairment tests for tangible fixed assets are based on the Com-
pany’s internal production and business plan, as well as, assump-
tions on future development of i.e. gold prices, exchange rates, 
and production costs. 

Changes in the market price of gold and exchange rates, pri-
marily EUR / USD and in tonnage and gold content have a major 
impact on the Group’s future cash flows and thereby on assessed 
impairment. Assumptions on gold price trends and currencies is 
done by the Company’s management on the basis of current pric-
es and external forecasts. 

Impairment tests made in case of an indication of impairment oc-
cur based on a number of assumptions. Planning horizons are based 
on the estimated useful life of the mine and its enrichment facility. 
Production plans form the basis for forecasts. Forecasts include only 
the existing mines, including planned development of the under-
ground mine. Discounted cash flow therefore may also include sup-
plementary drilling to enable a future mining operation. The entire 
planned operation is considered as one cash-generating unit. 

The value of future cash flows, have considerable sensitivity 
reliant on gold price, currencies and discount rate assumptions. 
Management is undertaken with support from external forecasts 
on positive gold price development, compared to the current 
gold price. 

In the present annual report, the following main assumptions 
are used in calculations:

• Gold price is expected to rise from the current level and aver-
age to about 1,500 USD / oz. 

• Choice of discount rate (12.0 percent before tax) was deter-
mined based on Endomines’ risk analysis and considerations 
have been made so that value assets are not overestimated or 
underestimated. 

• Impairment tests included all mining assets and other tangible 
assets related to gold production. 

Impairment of intangible assets 
Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are impaired annu-
ally or when there is an indication that an asset is impaired. The 
impairment test requires the management to establish fair value 
for cash-generating units on the basis of forecasted cash flows 
and internal business plans and forecasts. 

Restoration of land (provisions) 
The provision included in this annual report, is according to the 
management’s best estimate of the amount the Group will current-
ly have to pay to restore the land, regarding deposits where soil 
removal, mining or business activity has occurred. The provisions 
have been partially reported as operating expenses (where the pro-
vision increases from the previous year) and the remainder as fixed 
assets, which are amortized over the estimated remaining useful 
life from the time when mining has commenced, for more informa-
tion see Note 23. 

Acquired assets and liabilities 
In the consolidated financial statements, the acquisition of the 
subsidiaries Endomines Oy, Kalvinit Oy and Endomines Idaho 
LLC were not reported as acquisition of business, but as an acqui-
sition of an asset. As the subsidiaries consisted only of explora-
tion and evaluation assets, it was the management’s assessment 
that this constituted an acquisition of assets and not of a busi-
ness. Thus IFRS 6 Prospecting for and the Evaluation of Mineral 
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Note 4. Information by Country 

Group net sales per geographical market

KSEK Product 2019 2018

Finland Flotation Concentrate /
Enrichment Gold Concentrate 
/ Other

3 417 102 703

Norway Gravimetric Gold Concentrate 
/ Enrichment Gold  
Concentrate

2 620 1 336

USA – –

Net sales 6 037 104 039

Note 5. Personnel Information, Benefits to Employees,  
Board and Senior 
Average number of employees

2019 2018

Men Women Totalt Men Women Totalt

Sweden  (Endomines AB) 5 – 5 – – –

Finland 9 3 12 29 4 33

USA 13 4 17 4 1 5

Group 27 7 34 33 5 38

Of which

Board of Directors 5 – 5 5 – 5

Senior executives 2 1 3 2 1 3

7 1 8 7 1 8

Resources is applied to these acquisition, instead of IFRS 3 Business acquisitions. Fair value of the 
acquired assets, are based on the valuation of issued shares in Endomines AB, in accordance with 
IFRS 2. 

Deferred tax 
Management has made assumptions and judgments about the future earning capacity of the busi-
ness and based on this, the possibilities for future utilization of deficit deductions are assessed to be 
limited, and no deferred tax is reported. 

Salaries and other remuneration to senior executives and other employees

GROUP PARENT COMPANY

KSEK 2019 2018 2019 2018

Board of Directors, CEO and other 
senior executives

8 795 6 893 1 840 1 123

Salaries and remuneration of other 
employees

15 817 16 939 – 221

Pension costsr 2 691 3 632 – 89

Other social costs 1 115 1 150 – 416

Other employee costs 1 585 43 – –

Total 30 003 28 657 1 840 1 849

Management Report Corporate Governance Report Group Annual Accounts Parent Company Annual Accounts Auditor ś Report
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Salaries and other remuneration to senior executives and other employees

GROUP PARENT COMPANY

KSEK 2019 2018 2019 2018

Board of Directors, CEO and other 
senior executives

8 795 6 893 1 840 1 123

Salaries and remuneration of other 
employees

15 817 16 939 – 221

Pension costsr 2 691 3 632 – 89

Other social costs 1 115 1 150 – 416

Other employee costs 1 585 43 – –

Total 30 003 28 657 1 840 1 849

Remuneration to Board members and senior executives

Remuneration and other benefits 2019 Board fees * Basic salary
Variable  

remuneration
Other  

benefits
Pension Total

Chair of the Board Ingmar Haga 430 – – – – 430

Board member  Rauno Pitkänen 280 – – – – 280

Board member  Staffan Simberg 246 – – – – 246

Board member  Thomas Hoyer 250 – – – – 250

Board member  Michael Mattsson 125 – – – – 125

Board member  Jeremy Read 125 – – – – 125

Greg Smith, CEO – 385 – – – 385

** Saila Miettinen-Lähde, CEO – 2 880 604 1 871 4 356

Marcus Ahlström, Acting CEO, Deputy 
CEO and CFO

– 1 343 203 3 387 1 936

Seppo Tuovinen, CEO (Endomines Idaho 
LLC & Endomines Oy)

– 1 389 191 342 415 2 337

Total 1 455 5 996 998 346 1 674 10 469

* also includes remuneration for work in committees
** Includes compensation for termination of employment contract equivalent to 12-months salary including bonus for 2018

Remuneration and other benefits 2018 Board fee * Basic salary
Variable  

remuneration
Other  

benefits
Pension Total

Chair of the Board Ingmar Haga 215 – – – – 215

Board member Rauno Pitkänen 237 – – – – 237

Board member Staffan Simberg 237 – – – – 237

Board member Thomas Hoyer 128 – – – – 128

Board member Michael Mattsson 262 – – – – 262

Board member Ann Zetterberg Littorin 
uptil May 22

113 – – – – 113

Saila Miettinen-Lähde, CEO – 2 193 394 2 491 3 080

Other senior executives – 2 297 302 82 501 3 182

Total 1 192 4 490 696 84 992 7 454

* also includes remuneration for work in committees
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Note 6. Other Expenses and Remuneration to Auditors
GROUP PARENT COMPANY

KSEK 2019 2018 2019 2018

External production services – 34 463 – –

External services other 21 111 17 428 10 241 6 138

Energy 2 218 7 799 – –

Other 7 214 9 967 4 554 3 855

Total 30 543 69 657 14 795 9 993

Of which Group internal services, see 
Note 28.

– – – 3 228

 

Remuneration paid to auditors

GROUP PARENT COMPANY

KSEK 2019 2018 2019 2018

Audit assignment, PwC Sweden 664 396 390 396

Audit assignment, PwC Finland 236 312 – –

Auditing activities in addition to audit 
assignments, PwC Sweden 289 291 289 291

Auditing activities in addition to audit 
assignments, PwC Finland – 172 – –

Valuation services, PwC Sweden 26 26

Tax advice, PwC Sweden 45 185 45 185

Tax advice, PwC Finland, USA 88 –

Total 1 349 1 356 750 872

Note 7. Depreciation and Impairments
GROUP PARENT COMPANY

KSEK 2019 2018 2019 2018

Depreciation

Buildings 1 734 5 714 – –

Machinery and other technical facilities 1 285 5 039 – –

Mines 630 25 128 – –

Total depreciation 3 649 35 881 – –

Impairment

Buildings – – – –

Machinery and other technical facilities – – – –

Mines – 7 075 – –

Impairment of shares in subsidiaries – – 13 000 125 000

Total impairment – 7 075 13 000 125 000

Total depreciation and impairment 3 649 42 956 13 000 125 000

Audit assignments refer to the review of the annual accounts and accounts, as well as the Board’s and the 
CEO’s management, and other duties incumbent upon the company’s auditors, as well as, advice or other 
assistance from observations during review or execution of other such duties.

Auditing activities, in addition to audit assignments are referred to as quality assurance services, which will 
result in a report, certificate or other document also intended for others than the client. Above The stated 
fees refer to the following: PwC Sweden Audit assignment 664 KSEK (396 KSEK); Tax advice 45 KSEK (185 
KSEK); Other services 26 KSEK (0).
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*Figures for 2018 only include interest for financial leasing defined under IAS17

Note 8. Financial Income and Expenses 
 

GROUP PARENT COMPANY

KSEK 2019 2018 2019 2018

Repayment of loans 2 728 20 513 2 727 –

Financial exchange rate differences – 2 066 – 2 066

Interest income, subsidiaries – – 13 591 3 137

Sale of warrants 370 – 370 –

Total financial income 3 098 22 579 16 688 5 203

Financial exchange rate differences -5 090 – -5 049 –

Impairment of assets as a result of the 
correction of the TVL acquisition price -2 838 – -2 727 –

Bonds issue costs -3 569 – -3 569 –

Interest expense, bank loan & convertible 
& bond -15 428 -10 557 -15 428 -9 765

Interest expenses, subsidiaries – – -139 -136

Interest expenses, leasing* -119 -175 – –

Interest costs, restoration costs -315 -892 – –

Interest expenses, other -40 – – –

Total financial costs -27 398 -11 624 -26 912 -9 901

Total financial net -24 300 10 955 -10 224 -4 698

Note 9. Income Tax for the Group
KSEK 2019 2018

Reported result before -76 790 -37 497

Tax according to current Swedish nominal tax rate. 21.4 percent 16 433 8 249

Difference between Swedish and foreign tax rate -338 -107

Income tax for previous years – –

Tax effects of:

Non-deductible costs -14 -4

Increase in deficit without corresponding activation of deferred tax -15 989 -8 023

Total income tax 92 115

The average tax rate for the Group is 21.03 per cent (20.27), calculated on the basis of reported  
earnings in each company and nominal tax rates in each country.

GROUP PARENT COMPANY

KSEK 2019 2018 2019 2018

As of the due year

2020 24 785 23 515 – –

2021 181 171 – –

2022 – – – –

2023 50 935 52 056 – –

2024 38 065 35 935 – –

2025 143 753 135 709 – –

2026 53 597 50 597 – –

2027 33 127 31 273 – –

2028 – – – –

2029 12 550 – – –

No due date 206 353 134 268 175 262 134 268

Unused tax loss carryforwards, for 
which no deferred tax assets have 
been reported 563 346 463 524 175 262 134 268

Unused tax loss carryforwards, for which no deferred tax assets have been reported
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Note 10. The Group’s Intangible and Tangible Fixed Assets
There are no intangible and tangible fixed assets in the Parent Company.

GROUP  PARENT COMPANY

KSEK 2019 2018 2019 2018

Intangible assets

Retained expenses relating to explo-
ration and evaluation 

**Expenses 417 943 123 123 - -

Accumulated impairment losses -62 657 -60 061 - -

Opening book value 355 286 63 062 – –

Capitalizations 6 976 9 139 – –

New acquisitions – 280 344 –

Adjustments* -2 838 – – –

Currency differences 11 911 2 741

Closing book value 371 335 355 286 – –

Acquisition value 433 992 417 943 – –

Accumulated impairment losses -62 657 -62 657 – –

Book value 371 335 355 286 – –

* The repayment of the acquisition loan to TVL Gold LLC was adjusted in 2019, in accordance with the loan’s terms and conditions. This 
adjusted the acquisition price, thus affecting intangible fixed assets. Retained exploration and evaluation expenses above, refer to ca-
pitalized payments for exploration permits and exploration expenses, and are reported in accordance with IFRS 6, see section General 
Accounting Principles.

** The acquisition values include, i.e. testing for impairment assessment. The parameters used for WACC were 12% and a gold price of 
1450-1500 USD/oz. On the basis of the tests, there is no need to impair intangible fixed assets.

Tangible fixed assets of the Group

KSEK
Buildings  
and land Machinery Mines Total

Opening balance on 1 January 2018 10 879 14 949 36 410 62 238

New acquisitions 11 081 38 213 41 604 90 897

Exchange rate difference 677 2 336 2 543 5 556

The year's depreciations -5 714 -5 039 -25 128 -35 881

Impairment – – -7 075 -7 075

Closing balance on 31 December 2018 16 923 50 458 48 354 115 735

Acquisition costs 117 987 177 897 256 344 552 228

Accumulated depreciation and impair-
ments -101 064 -127 439 -207 990 -436 494

Closing balance on 31 December 2018 16 923 50 458 48 354 115 735

Opening balance on 1 January 2019 16 923 50 458 48 354 115 735

Additions * 22 944 15 014 42 768 80 726

Reclassification 26 786 -5 385 -21 401 –

Exchange rate difference 1 844 581 464 2 889

This year's depreciations -1 734 -1 285 -630 -3 649

Closing balance on 31 December 2019 66 763 59 383 69 555 195 701

As of 31 December 2019 –

Acquisition costs 169 561 188 107 278 178 635 846

Accumulated depreciation and write-
downs -102 798 -128 724 -208 623 -440 145

Book value 31 December 2019 66 763 59 383 69 555 195 701

Activated interest rate at the end of the 
year:

2019 9 9 – 18

2018 32 32 – 64

* = Includes additions from conversion to IFRS 16. For more information on IFRS16 assets please see Note 11.
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Note 11. Leasing - IFRS16
This note describes the effects of applying IFRS 16 Leases on 
the Group’s financial reports from January 2019. IFRS 16 Leasing 
Agreements, published in January 2016 replaces IAS 17 Leasing 
Agreements. The standard is compulsory for fiscal years, which 
begins on or after 1 January 2019. It has meant that almost all 
leases are now recognized in the leaseholder’s balance sheet, 
since distinction is no longer made between operational and 
financial leases. The only exception are short-term leasing cont-
racts (under 1 year and low value leasing (less than KSEK 50)). 

According to the new standard, assets (the right of use of a 
leased asset) and financial liabilities relating to the obligation to 
pay leasing fees are recognized Related impairment charges and 
interest expenses are disclosed separately.

Changes in the estimated lease period, lease payments and 
the like may require revaluation of right of use asset and leasing 
liability in future periods. The Group completed an analysis of 
leasing agreements affected by the new standard in 2019. A 
simplified method has been adopted, which involves not retes-
ting whether existing agreements, do or do not include leasing 
at the time of conclusion.

The new standard allows a number of different transition met-
hods, and Endomines has chosen to use the simplified method 
(see Note 1). At the transition to IFRS 16, the Group reported lea-
sing liabilities for leases that were previously reported as opera-
ting leases in accordance with IAS 17 Leasing Agreements. These 
liabilities have been valued at the present value of future lease 
payments. In addition, where applicable, leasing fees that have 
not been paid have been included; such as fixed and variable 
fees, amounts that are expected to be paid as residual value gua-
rantees and penalty fees for early termination of a lease. 

The changes will affect the Group’s accounting principles, 
which consequently affect the accounting, valuation and presen-
tation of certain figures in the financial reports. The effects are 
described below. 

The transition to IFRS 16 has resulted in operating leases being 
reported as liabilities in the statement of financial position, which 
means that the value of pledged assets and contingent liabilities 
has decreased, compared with what is reported in this annual re-
port in Note 28 Pledged Assets and Contingent Liabilities. 

The operating leases that have been reported in Endomine’s 
balance sheet as a result of the transition to IFRS 16 mainly con-
cern buildings (offices, warehouses and service buildings) and 
transport (cars, forklifts). 

The following accounting principles are applied as of  the 
implementation of IFRS 16 on 1 January 2019: 
As of 1 January 1 2019, the majority of the Group’s leasing agree-
ments are recognized in the balance sheet and the new standard 
will thus affect the classification of the Group’s operating leases. 
The new standard applies to the reporting of the Group’s ope-
rating leases. The Group will test whether a contract contains a 
leasing component by examining whether the agreement, in ex-
change for a compensation, allows control over the right of use. 
At the beginning of the lease period, right of use (the right to use 
a leased asset) and a financial liability relating to the obligation to 
pay leasing fees are reported. Right of use is initially valued at the 
value of the lease debt, adjusted for any lease payments paid be-
fore or as of the initial date of the lease, including any direct costs 
and an estimated cost of restoring the underlying asset. The lease 
debt includes the present value of the following lease payments: 

• Fixed fees
• Variable fees that depend on an index or price, initially valued 

using an index or price as of the start date,
• Amounts expected to be paid for residual value guarantees,
• The strike price for an option to buythe asset if the lessee is 

reasonably certain to exercise the option, and
• Penalties that are paid upon cancellation, if the lease period 

indicates that the lessee plans to cancel the lease.
 
When the leasing period is determined, the company uses all 
available information that affects the incentive on whether use 
lease renewal options or not to use lease termination options. 
Renewal options are only included in lease periods, if the lease-
holder has reasonable certainty that this option will be used; and 
termination options are only included, when there is reasonable 
certainty that the leaseholder will use this option during the lease 
period. Revaluations of leasing liabilities occur, when changes in 
future lease payments are caused by changes in the index or pri-
ce, or if the Group changes its estimate regarding the purchase, 

extension or termination of the lease. The value of the right-of-
use asset is also changed by the same amount.

Right-of-use asset is depreciated on a straight-line basis over 
the shorter estimate of the asset’s useful life and the duration of 
the lease. The right-of-use  asset is adjusted for the revaluation of 
the lease liability and any write downs. Depreciation and impair-
ments are reported separately. 

The lease liabilityis initially estimated at the present value of 
future lease payments, discounted by the implicit loan interest 
rate in the agreement, or if this is difficult to define, by the Group’s 
marginal loan interest rate. In general, the marginal loan rate is 
used. Interest expenses are reported separately. The Group has 
chosen not to account for right of use and leasing liabilities for 
short-term leases (leasing period of no more than twelve months) 
and leased assets with a low underlying value.

Management Report Corporate Governance Report Group Annual Accounts Parent Company Annual Accounts Auditor ś Report
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Information on right- of-use assets is presented below

KSEK

Buildings Machinery 

2019 2018 2019 2018

Changes during the year

Opening balance for the year 1 068 1 815 852 2 533

Changes in reporting principle, IFRS16 831 – 1 318 –

Exchange rate differences 29 78 33 238

Additions – – 703 –

The year's depreciations -1 148 -825 -727 -1 919

Impairment – – -481 –

Closing balance for the year 780 1 068 1 698 852

Leasing liabilities are specified below

KSEK 2019 2018

Liabilities relating to leasing IFRS 16

Long-term interest-bearing debt 1 754 2 427

Short-term interest-bearing liabilities 2 385 2 077

Total 4 139 4 504

Liability maturity break-down

Within a year 2385 2077

Between 1 and 5 years 1508 2427

More than 5 years 246 –

Total 4139 4504

Leasing payments not classified in accordance with IFRS 16

Rental costs for short-term leasing – –

Assets free from IFRS 16 2432 –

Rental payments at low valued lease costs 64 –

Total 2 496 –

The effect of the application of IFRS 16 on the consolidated income 
statement

Other expenses 1998 –

Depreciation -1903 –

Operating profit 95 –

Financial costs -119 –

The result for the period -25 –

The application of IFRS 16 did not affect the Group’s consolidated cash flow statement.

Depreciation and impairments of MSEK 3,649 (35,881) for the year, include depreciation and impairment of right-of-use 
assets of MSEK 1,875 (-) for 2019. 
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Note 14. Financial Instruments by Category
Financial assets

Loan and trade receivables

KSEK 2019 2018

Accounts receivable and other receivables excluding interim receivables 6 046 6 161

Liquid assets 15 727 18 931

Total financial assets 21 773 25 092

Financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities

KSEK 2019 2018

Bonds 38 996 –

Convertible loan 169 162 168 800

Loan corporate acquisition – 28 219

Liabilities related to financial leasing 4 139 4 504

Loans with special conditions 3 074 2 592

Accounts payable and other liabilities 14 715 17 268

Total financial liabilities 230 086 221 383

Note 13. Financial fixed assets, Group
KSEK 2019 2018

Other long-term receivables 5 478 5 395

Other long-term receivables relate to pledged funds for environmental obligations in Finland, see 
also Note 25.

Note 12. Shares and Participations in Group Companies
2019 2018

Accumulated acquisition values

Accumulated acquisition values at the beginning of the year 781 042 459 557

Acquisition of subsidiaries* -2 728 266 144

Shareholder contributions 21 376 55 341

Total accumulated acquisition value 799 690 781 042

Accumulated impairments at the beginning of the year -451 842 -326 842

Impairments for the year -13 000 -125 000

Total impairments -464 842 -451 842

Book value 334 848 329 200

*The repayment of the acquisition loan for the purchase of TVL Gold LLC was adjusted in 2019, in accordance with the terms of the 
loan. Consequently, the acquisition price was adjusted, and the value of shares in the subsidiary held by the parent company were 
adjusted.           
   

Org. Nr. Value Book value

Endomines Oy, Ilomantsi, Finland , 100% 1061211-5 1 000 000 68 731

Kalvinit Oy, Helsingfors, Finland, 100% 1005935-6 456 460 2 700

Endomines Idaho LLC, Idaho, USA, 100% 82-4876650 1 000 263 417

Total 334 848

Note 15. Inventories
GROUP PARENT COMPANY

KSEK 2019 2018 2019 2018

Materials 37 36 – –

Products under work – – – –

Gold concentrate – 1 726 – –

Total 37 1 762 – –
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Note 16. Other Receivables
GROUP PARENT COMPANY

KSEK 2019 2018 2019 2018

Advance acquisition of TVL Gold – – – –

Tax receivables 555 765 387 417

Other 12 1 13 –

Total 568 766 400 417

Note 17. Prepaid Costs and Accrued Income
GROUP PARENT COMPANY

KSEK 2019 2018 2019 2018

Accumulated sales revenue 113 2 230 – –

Insurance 189 14 87 –

Issue costs – – – –

Acquisition costs – – – –

Other 455 771 342 139

Total 757 3 015 429 139

Note 18. Liquid Assets

Effective interest rate for liquid assets at the end of the year amounted to 0.0 percent (0.0).

Note 19. Specific Information on Equity
KSEK 2019 2018

Share capital

Opening number of shares 35 147 785 10 486 275

Interest on issued shares 259 703 –

New share issue 44 549 555 24 661 510

Closing number of shares 79 957 043 35 147 785

Quota value per share 3,00 8,00

Share capital (KSEK) 240 157 281 182

According to the articles of association of Endomines AB, the share capital shall be a minimum of SEK 
150 million and a maximum of SEK 600 million, and the number of shares a minimum of 50 million and 
a maximum of 200 million.

Other contributed capital in the Group

KSEK 2019 2018

Opening balance 542 065 343 873

Lowering share quota value 177 037 178 266

Rights issue costs -8 129 -7 076

Rights issue 21 547 27 002

Closing balance 732 521 542 065

Reserves in the Group

Opening balance 30 365 5 407

The year's translation differences 11 823 24 958

Closing balance 42 188 30 365
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Note 20. Borrowing
GROUP PARENT COMPANY

KEUR
Loan  

currency 2019 2018 2019 2018

Long-term interest-bearing liabilities

Liabilities relating to leasing * EUR/USD 1 754 2 427 – –

Other interest-bearing liabilities EUR 2 964 2 592 – –

4 718 5 019 – –

Short-term interest-bearing liabilities

Loan company acquisitions SEK – 28 219 – 28 219

Liabilities relating to leasing * EUR/USD 2 385 2 077 –

Other interest-bearing liabilities 109 – – –

2 494 30 296 – 28 219

Total borrowing 7 212 35 315 – 28 219

*The 2018 figures only include financial leasing in accordance with IAS17. For a detailed explanation of leasing liabilities (IFRS16), see Note 11.

Other interest-bearing liabilities

KEUR 2019 2018

Capital loans in accordance with the existing Finnish Companies Act, due 31 December 2020 2 632 2 592

Installment debt 442 533

Total 3 074 3 125

The loan is recognized at amortized cost. For the loan, there are special conditions regarding repayment of obligations. The loan is 
a so-called capital loan under Finnish law. If the subsidiary dissolves or goes bankrupt, payment of capital and interest may only be 
made with worse preference than other debts. The capital can only be repaid if there is full coverage for the restricted capital and 
other non-distributable funds in the most recently audited annual accounts. Interest may only be paid if there are distributable ear-
nings. Loan interest rate is paid according to the Bank of Finland’s basic interest rate, without deduction and without any minimum 
limit. Interest rates are expensed in the consolidated financial statements as the capital loan and is reported as ”other provisions”, as 
the subsidiary lacks distributable earnings, see below Note 23 Other Provisions in the Group.

For details regarding the convertible bond, see Note 21. For details regarding obligations, see Note 22.
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Note 21. Convertible Bond
KSEK 2019 2018

Group

Convertible bond 169 162 168 880

Accrued interest on convertible bonds 6 184 8 861

Total 175 346 177 741

Endomines AB’s extraordinary general meeting on 10 December 2019, decided - in accordance with 
the Board of Directors’ proposal - to change the terms of the convertible bond. According to the 
proposed changed conditions, an annual interest rate of 10.0 per cent (previously 6.0 per cent) is 
collected, and accrued interest is to be paid in cash. The convertible holder shall convert 50 percent 
of the loan amount to new shares in Endomines at a conversion price of SEK 5.85 per new share in 
Endomines three banking days after new terms for the convertibles have been registered with the 
Swedish Companies Registration Office, and the remaining 50 percent of the loan amount to new 
shares in Endomines at conversion price of SEK 6.00 per share no later than 31 March 2020. After full 
conversion, the convertible holder’s ownership interest in the Company may not exceed 29.9%. After 
changing the terms of the convertibles and full conversion, the number of shares in Endomines will 
increase by 33,490,597 and the share capital will increase by SEK 100,591,574. 

Under the changed conditions, 50% of the convertible bond was converted into new shares in 
Endomines AB on 9 January 2020 at the conversion price of SEK 5.85 per share. After conversion, the 
number of shares and votes in Endomines amounts to SEK 96,914,307 and the share capital to SEK 
291,089,546.70. 

Under the changed conditions, the balance of the convertible bond was converted into new shares 
in Endomines AB on 25 February 2020 at the conversion price of SEK 6.00 per share. After conversion, 
the number of shares and votes in Endomines amounts to 113,447,640 and the share capital to SEK 
340,748,679.

Note 22. Bond
KSEK 2019 2018

Group

Bond 38 996 –

Accrued interest on bond 3 833 –

Total 42 829 –

The bond was issued on 4 March 2019. It has a three-year maturity and a fixed annual interest rate 
of 12.0 percent, and is redeemable at the company’s request for 103 percent of the nominal amount 
after one year (March 2020) and 101 percent of the nominal amount after two years (March 2021).  
  

Note 23. Other Provisions in the Group

KSEK
Restoration 

costs

Interest 
expenses for 
capital loans Total

Opening balance on 1 January 2019 7 176 932 8 108

Discount effect 892 – 892

Translation difference 312 40 352

Closing balance on 31 December 2018 and opening 
balance on 1 January 2019 8 380 972 9 352

Additions to existing provisions 3 304 – 3 304

Discount effect 315 – 315

Translation difference 74 15 89

Closing balance on 31 December 2019 12 073 987 13 060

The provision for restoration costs relates to estimated land restoration costs for the Pampalo mine, 
Rämepuro mine & Friday mine. The discount effect is reported as interest expenses. Additions to 
existing provisions can be derived from provisions for the Friday mine that arose in 2019.

Other provisions relate to interest expenses for capital loans. See also Loans with special conditions 
in Note 20 Borrowing.
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Note 24. Other Liabilities

KSEK

GROUP PARENT COMPANY

2019 2018 2019 2018

Bond interest 3 833 – 3 833 –

Other 1 072 1 592 29 199

Total 4 905 1 592 3 862 199

Note 25. Accumulated Costs and Prepaid Revenues

KSEK

GROUP PARENT COMPANY

2019 2018 2019 2018

Accrued salary-related costs 2 855 6 175 – –

Accrued board fees 963 670 963 670

Accrued audit fees 240 497 240 316

Accrued interest costs – – 137 –

Other 190 703 2 415 423

Total 4 247 8 045 3 756 1 409

Note 26. Pledged Collateral

KSEK

GROUP PARENT COMPANY

2019 2018 2019 2018

Pledged funds related to environmental 
obligations 5 478 5 395 – –

Total pledged collateral 5 478 5 395 – –

Note 27. Contingent Liabilities
GROUP PARENT COMPANY

2019 2018 2019 2018

Royalty liabilities under the 1996 
agreement regarding Endomines 
Oy:

Future royalty payment regarding 
Ilomantsi1)

26 324 25 923 – –

Future royalty payment regarding 
Pampalo deposit 2)

15 650 15 413 – –

Total contingent liabilities 41 974 41 336 – –

1) Royalty is paid to the Finnish state based on mined ore in certain areas along the Karelian Gold Line, up to a maximum of  
KEUR 2,523.       
2) Royalty is paid to Polar Mining Oy and the payment obligation becomes effective after 203,000oz of gold has been extracted, up to 
a maximum of KEUR 1,500. So far, about 60 percent of this has been extracted. At the current rate of production, this obligation comes 
into effect, at the earliest, in several years’ time.

Note 28. Earnings per Share for the Group

KSEK 2019 2018

Before and after dilution

Profit for the year attributable to the Parent Company's shareholders -76 698 -37 382

Weighted average number of shares for calculation of earnings per share 59 704 675 34 122 090

Earnings per share before and after dilution -1,28 -1,10

Total earnings per share

Total profit attributable to the Parent Company's shareholders -64 875 -12 424

Weighted average number of shares for calculation of earnings per share 59 704 675 34 122 090

Total earnings per share before and after dilution -1,09 -0,36
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Note 29. Relationships and Transactions with Related 

Relationships
The Parent Company’s shares and participations in subsidiaries are reported in Note 12.     
    
Information on Board members and Group Management and their remuneration are reported in 
Note 5, and in the Corporate Governance Report.
       
Transactions       
No Board member or senior executive in the Group, has or has had any direct involvement in any 
business transaction between themselves and the Group, that are or were unusual in their nature 
with regard to the current and previous fiscal years. Nor has the Group provided loans, guarantees 
or entered into a guarantee commitment for any of the Board members or senior executives in the 
Group.       

Group internal transactions between parent company and other group companies

KSEK 2019 2018

Net sales from other Group companies – –

Other external costs paid to other Group 
companies 4 800 3 228

Interest income from other Group com-
panies

13 591 3 137

Interest expenses to other Group com-
panies 139 137

Loans to subsidiaries at year-end 241 374 128 752

Borrowed loans from subsidiaries at 
year-end 7 867 7 748

Note 30. Additional Information to the Cash Flow Statement

KSEK

GROUP PARENT COMPANY

2019 2018 2019 2018

INTEREST PAYMENTS

Interest received

External interest rates – – – –

Interest from subsidiaries – – – 450

Total – – – 450

Interest paid

External interest rates -12 947 -1 139 – –

Interest rates for subsidiaries – – -105 -68

Total -12 947 -1 139 -105 -68

KSEK Bond 
Bridge 

Loan Leasing

TVL 
acquisition 

loan

Other 
debt 

liabilities Total

REPORT ON CASH FLOWS

Opening balance for 2019 – – -4 504 -28 219 -3 125 -35 848

Borrowings -38 996 -16 045 – – – -55 041

Amortization of loans – 16 049 2 820 27 520 101 46 490

Exchange rate differences – -4 -146 – -40 -191

Non-cash flow items -3 833 – -2 309 699 – -5 443

Closing balance for 2019 -42 829 – -4 139 – -3 074 -50 041
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Note 31. Sensitivity Analysis
For the most important risks from financial instruments, see Note 14, to which the Group is exposed to are reported in Note 3. The table below shows the effects of 
a differences in an isolated variable with all other variables constant. All information pertains to the Group as a whole.

KSEK
Results  

after tax Equity
Results  

after tax Equity

Effect of exchange rate differences on loans between Group companies:

+ 1% exchange rate difference in SEK – EUR 260 260 318 318

- 1% exchange rate difference in SEK –  EUR -260 -260 -318 -318

+ 1% exchange rate difference in SEK – USD 1 898 1 898 828 828

- 1% exchange rate difference in SEK – USD -1 898 -1 898 -828 -828

Effect of exchange rate difference on external receivables in USD:

+ 1% exchange rate difference in USD – EUR, converted to SEK at balance sheet date exchange rate – – -21 -21

- 1% exchange rate difference in USD – EUR, converted to SEK at balance sheet date exchange rate – – 21 21

Note 32. Significant Events after Year-End 

1)  On 28 January 2020, Endomines announced that the company has signed a letter of intent with Transatlantic Mining  
 to buy the US Grant mine (with enrichment facility) and the Kearsarge gold project.

2)  On 4 February 2020, Endomines announced that the company had successfully taken over the entire mining  
 operation at the Friday mine, by year’s end, and also successfully operated the mine’s Orogrande Processing Facility  
 (”OPF”), in Idaho County, Idaho, USA.

3) The number of shares and votes in Endomines increased by 33,490,597 during Q1 2020, as a result of the conversion  
 of reserves of the convertible loan Endomines has issued to TVL Gold 1, LLC. The conversion has been carried out   
 in accordance with the updated terms for the convertible loan that were resolved at Endomines’ Extraordinary  
 General Meeting on 10 December 2019. Consequently, the total number of shares in Endomines amounts to   
 113,447,640 and share capital to SEK 340,748,679.

4) On 12 March, Endomines announced that it has entered into an agreement with H&H Metal’s current sale of gold   
 concentrate produced at the company’s Friday mine (the ”Project”) located in Idaho, USA.

5) On 1 April, Endomines announced that it had taken out a loan, by issuing EUR 3.4 million in debt
 mainly to Finnish institutional investors.

6) On 7 April, Endomines announced that it is postponing the transfer of domicile from Sweden to Finland through a  
 cross-border merger.

7)  On 8 April, Endomines announced that it is conducting a directed share issue of approximately EUR 1.3 million in   
 order to speed-up startup operations at the Friday mine.

8)  On 29 April 2020, Endomines announced that it has entered into an agreement with Transatlantic Mining to acquire  
 the US Grant mine including its existing enrichment facility and the Kearsarge gold project.

9)  On 29 April 2020, Endomines announced that it has raised a short-term loan of SEK 30 million and entered into an   
 agreement with Seaport Global to enable long-term financing.

10) The COVID-19 outbreak has developed rapidly in 2020 with a significant number of infections. Measures taken by   
 governments to restrict its spread have affected economic activity. We have taken several measures to monitor and  
 prevent the effects of the virus, such as safety and health measures for our employees (e.g. social distancing and 
  working from home) and ensuring the delivery of materials critical to our production process. At this stage, the   
 impact on our operations and results has been limited.

At the Annual General Meeting’s disposal are (SEK):

Premium fund 713 439 299

Retained losses -553 024 466

Result for the year -39 995 559

Total 120 419 274

The Board of Directors and the CEO propose that the funds be allocated as follows; No dividend will 
be distributed for 2019 and profit, SEK 120,419,274 will be transferred into a new account.
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The consolidated income statement and balance sheets will be 
presented by Annual General Meeting for adoption. The Board 
of Directors and the CEO ensure that the consolidated accounts 
has been established in accordance with international accoun-
ting standards IFRS as adopted by the EU and gives a true and 
fair view of the Group’s position and earnings. 

The annual report has been prepared in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles  and gives a true and 

Ingmar Haga
Chairman of the Board

Michael Mattsson
Board Member

Thomas Hoyer
Board Member

Greg Smith
CEO 

Our auditor’s report has been submitted on the 29th of April 2020.
 

PricewaterhouseCoopers AB

Martin Johansson
Authorized Public Accountant
Auditor-in-charge

Jeremy Read
Board Member

Rauno Pitkänen
Board Member

SIGNING OF THE ANNUAL REPORT 

fair view of the parent company’s position and results. Mana-
gement report for the Group and the parent company gives a 
true overview of the development of the Group ’s and the Pa-
rent Company’ s operations, position and position results and 
describes significant risks and uncertainties such as the Parent 
Company and the companies included in the Group stand in 
front of.

Anna Rozhdestvenskaya
Authorized Public Accountant
Co-signing auditor

Stockholm, 29th of April 2020
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AUDITOR’S REPORT Unofficial translation

Report on the annual accounts and 
consolidated accounts

Opinions
We have audited the annual accounts and consolidated accounts 
of Endomines AB (publ) for the year 2019. The annual accounts 
and consolidated accounts of the company are included on pag-
es 12-18 and 26-52 in this document.

In our opinion, the annual accounts have been prepared in ac-
cordance with the Annual Accounts Act and present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of parent company and 
the group as of 31 December 2019 and its financial performance 
and cash flow for the year then ended in accordance with the An-
nual Accounts Act. The consolidated accounts have been pre-
pared in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act and present 
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the group 
as of 31 December 2019 and their financial performance and cash 
flow for the year then ended in accordance with International Fi-
nancial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the EU, and 
the Annual Accounts Act. The statutory administration report is 
consistent with the other parts of the annual accounts and con-
solidated accounts.

We therefore recommend that the general meeting of share-
holders adopts the income statement and balance sheet for the 
parent company and the group.

Our opinions in this report on the annual accounts and consol-
idated accounts are consistent with the content of the additional 
report that has been submitted to the parent company’s Board 
of Directors in accordance with the Audit Regulation (537/2014) 
Article 11.

Basis for Opinions
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Stand-
ards on Auditing (ISA) and generally accepted auditing standards 
in Sweden. Our responsibilities under those standards are further 

To the general meeting of the shareholders of Endomines AB (publ), corporate identity number 556694-2974

described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities section. We are in-
dependent of the parent company and the group in accordance 
with professional ethics for accountants in Sweden and have 
otherwise fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements. This includes that, based on the best of our 
knowledge and belief, no prohibited services referred to in the 
Audit Regulation (537/2014) Article 5.1 have been provided to 
the audited company or, where applicable, its parent company 
or its controlled companies within the EU.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi-
cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions.

Our audit approach
Audit scope
We designed our audit by determining materiality and assessing 
the risks of material misstatement in the consolidated financial 
statements. In particular, we considered where management 
made subjective judgements; for example, in respect of signif-
icant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions 
and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As 
in all of our audits, we also addressed the risk of management 
override of internal controls, including among other matters 
consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that repre-
sented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform suf-
ficient work to enable us to provide an opinion on the consol-
idated financial statements as a whole, taking into account the 
structure of the Group, the accounting processes and controls, 
and the industry in which the group operates.

The parent company and its Finnish subsidiary Endomines 
Oy have been subject to statutory auditing, while Endomines 
Idaho LLC has been subject to a specified audit procedures for 
group purposes. In preparing our audit plan, we have deter-
mined the audit efforts that will be made for each company.

The Group team has performed the audit of the Parent Com-
pany, audit of the consolidation, audit of the annual report, audit 

of significant assumptions and judgments, and the review of the 
Group’s impairment testing and the specified audit procedures 
for Endomines Idaho LLC. Based on the audit efforts carried out, 
we believe that we have obtained sufficient audit evidence to be 
able to express an opinion on the financial reports as a whole.

Our audit is performed on an ongoing basis throughout the 
year. In 2019, in connection with the interim report for the half 
year and at the end of the year, we reported our most significant 
observations to the Group Management and the Audit Commit-
tee. Regarding the interim report for the six months, we submit-
ted auditors report on review.  

Materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of ma-
teriality. An audit is designed to obtain reasonable assurance 
whether the financial statements are free from material misstate-
ment. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are 
considered material if individually or in aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of the consolidated financial statements.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined cer-
tain quantitative thresholds for materiality, including the overall 
group materiality for the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole as set out in the table below. These, together with qualita-
tive considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our au-
dit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and 
to evaluate the effect of misstatements, both individually and in 
aggregate on the financial statements as a whole.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters of the audit are those matters that, in our pro-
fessional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
annual accounts and consolidated accounts of the current pe-
riod. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit 
of, and in forming our opinion thereon, the annual accounts and 
consolidated accounts as a whole, but we do not provide a sepa-
rate opinion on these matters.
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Particularly important area How our audit observed the particularly important area

Impairment testing of tangible and intangible assets and shares in subsidiaries

The Group’s intangible and tangible assets amount to a sig-
nificant amount and also the Parent Company’s participations 
in Group companies. 

In Note 3 Significant accounting estimates and judgements, 
Note 7 Depreciation/amortisation and impairment of tangible 
and intangible assets, Note 10 The Group’s intangible and tan-
gible assets and Note 12 Shares and participations in Group 
companies, the Company describes the principles for impair-
ment testing, past impairment and the outcome of this year’s 
impairment testing.

As required by IFRS, management is to conduct annual im-
pairment testing of intangible and tangible assets. Impairment 
testing of intangible and tangible assets uses the Company’s 
estimated future cash flows with starting point in the Compa-
ny’s production and business plan as well as assumptions re-
garding future performance. The planning horizon is assessed 
based on the service life of each mine and processing facility. 

Fixed assets in the USA are connected to the ongoing ex-
ploration and future production plans and the impairment test-
ing was carried out on this basis. 

Changes to market prices for gold and gold content, dis-
count rates and exchange rates, impact the Group’s future cash 
flows.

As no mining is currently taking place in Finland, the impair-
ment testing is conducted using cautiously assessed market 
values of production equipment, such as the processing facili-
ty. Impairment testing of exploration assets in Finland is based 
on the nature of the assets using prevailing rules. 

No impairment was identified for tangible and intangible 
assets in impairment testing for the year. Impairment was iden-
tified in impairment testing of shares in Group companies. As 
a consequence, shares in the Finnish subsidiary Endomines Oy 
were impaired in an amount of SEK 13 M. More detailed infor-
mation is available in Note 3 and Note 12. 

In our audit, we have assessed the calculation model used 
by management and established that the most important as-
sumptions in the model are consistent with the Company’s pro-
duction and business plan.

We also considered the reasonableness of Company man-
agement’s assumptions and assessments. This was achieved 
by analysing how well the assumptions from previous years 
were achieved and the effect changes to both internal and ex-
ternal factors had on operations.

We have tested Company management’s assumptions, 
mainly linked to the key variables that have the greatest impact 
on the impairment assessment, such as the discount factor and 
future market prices of gold. This was achieved by comparing 
future prospects for the economy as a whole as well as the min-
ing industry and comparable companies. We have also mathe-
matically tested the Company’s pricing model and carried out 
sensitivity analyses on key variables.

We assessed the accounting policies and related disclo-
sures submitted for key assumptions and sensitivity analyses in 
the annual report and found these appropriate.
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Particularly important area How our audit observed the particularly important area

Financing/Going concern

The Company’s business is capital-intensive. Access to financ-
ing is required to conduct exploration and mine expansion. 

As in previous years, the Company reported a loss in 2019 
and had negative cash flow. This resulted in stressed liquidity 
and a need to secure the long-term financing of the Group. 

On that basis, we consider financing/Going concern is a key 
audit matter for the operations. 

In 2019, the Board and management worked actively with 
the Company’s financing. During the first quarter, the Compa-
ny secured bond loans that yielded SEK 39 M, net, and in the 
third quarter a new share issue was completed that yielded SEK 
147 M less issue expenses.  

As referred to in the administration report, under the head-
ing Future liquidity development, Endomines has secured two 
loans after the reporting period of EUR 3.4 M (approximately 
SEK 36.9 M) including warrants and EUR 2.8 M (approximately 
SEK 30 M). If the warrants are exercised, this will yield up to 
another EUR 1.8 M to the Company. In addition, a rights issue 
was conducted amounting to EUR 1.3 M (approximately SEK 
14.1 M). This financing covers the Company’s requirements for 
short-term capital employed to complete the escalation of the 
Friday mine and exploration and development costs in the near 
future in Finland and Idaho, USA. However, further financing 
may be needed in 2020 to implement the Company’s long-
term growth strategy. The Company is actively evaluating fi-
nancing alternatives for the purposes stated above and is also 
prepared to postpone measures pending financing.

The Board’s assessment is that after the implemented meas-
ures, existing working capital is sufficient for the next 12 month 
after the end of the reporting period.

At 31 December 2019, the Group’s cash and cash equiva-
lents amounted to SEK 15.7 M.

We have reviewed the liquidity forecast prepared by man-
agement and approved by the Board. According to the liquidi-
ty forecast, the Company has, after signing the loans and com-
pleting the issue, sufficient funds to continue operations for 12 
months after the end of the reporting period.

We have examined the most significant assumptions on 
which the forecast is based. Furthermore, we analysed the per-
formance of operations and the outcome of the forecast events 
from the start of the reporting period until the submission of 
the auditor’s report.

We examined the application of the accounting policies and 
the related disclosures submitted in the annual report pertain-
ing to the Company’s financing and found these appropriate.
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Other Information than the annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts
This document also contains other information than the annual 
accounts and consolidated accounts and is found on pages 1-11 
and 19-25. The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are 
responsible for this other information.

Our opinion on the annual accounts and consolidated ac-
counts does not cover this other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion regarding this other 
information.

In connection with our audit of the annual accounts and con-
solidated accounts, our responsibility is to read the information 
identified above and consider whether the information is ma-
terially inconsistent with the annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts. In this procedure we also take into account our knowl-
edge otherwise obtained in the audit and assess whether the in-
formation otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If we, based on the work performed concerning this informa-
tion, conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing 
to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Board of Director’s and the Managing 
Director
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsi-
ble for the preparation of the annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts and that they give a fair presentation in accordance with 
the Annual Accounts Act and, concerning the consolidated ac-
counts, in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU. The Board 
of Directors and the Managing Director are also responsible for 
such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of annual accounts and consolidated accounts that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the annual accounts and consolidated accounts, 
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsi-
ble for the assessment of the company’s and the group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. They disclose, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of ac-
counting. The going concern basis of accounting is however not 
applied if the Board of Directors and the Managing Director intend 

to liquidate the company, to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about wheth-
er the annual accounts and consolidated accounts as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinions. Rea-
sonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guar-
antee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs and gen-
erally accepted auditing standards in Sweden will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or 
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these annu-
al accounts and consolidated accounts.

A further description of our responsibility for the audit of the 
annual accounts and consolidated accounts is available on Re-
visorsinspektionen’s website: www.revisorsinspektionen.se/revi-
sornsansvar. This description is part of the auditor´s report.

Report on other legal and regulatory 
requirements
Opinions
In addition to our audit of the annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts, we have also audited the administration of the Board of 
Director’s and the Managing Director of Endomines AB (publ) for 
the year 2019 and the proposed appropriations of the company’s 
profit or loss.

We recommend to the general meeting of shareholders that 
the profit be appropriated in accordance with the proposal in 
the statutory administration report and that the members of the 
Board of Director’s and the Managing Director be discharged 
from liability for the financial year.

Basis for Opinions
We conducted the audit in accordance with generally accepted 
auditing standards in Sweden. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 

section. We are independent of the parent company and the 
group in accordance with professional ethics for accountants in 
Sweden and have otherwise fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi-
cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions.

Responsibilities of the Board of Director’s and the Managing 
Director
The Board of Directors is responsible for the proposal for ap-
propriations of the company’s profit or loss. At the proposal of 
a dividend, this includes an assessment of whether the dividend 
is justifiable considering the requirements which the company’s 
and the group’s type of operations, size and risks place on the 
size of the parent company’s and the group’ equity, consolidation 
requirements, liquidity and position in general.

The Board of Directors is responsible for the company’s or-
ganization and the administration of the company’s affairs. This 
includes among other things continuous assessment of the com-
pany’s and the group’s financial situation and ensuring that the 
company´s organization is designed so that the accounting, man-
agement of assets and the company’s financial affairs otherwise 
are controlled in a reassuring manner. The Managing Director 
shall manage the ongoing administration according to the Board 
of Directors’ guidelines and instructions and among other mat-
ters take measures that are necessary to fulfill the company’s ac-
counting in accordance with law and handle the management of 
assets in a reassuring manner.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our objective concerning the audit of the administration, and 
thereby our opinion about discharge from liability, is to obtain 
audit evidence to assess with a reasonable degree of assurance 
whether any member of the Board of Directors or the Managing 
Director in any material respect:

• has undertaken any action or been guilty of any omission which 
can give rise to liability to the company, or

• in any other way has acted in contravention of the Companies 
Act, the Annual Accounts Act or the Articles of Association.
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Our objective concerning the audit of the proposed appro-
priations of the company’s profit or loss, and thereby our opin-
ion about this, is to assess with reasonable degree of assurance 
whether the proposal is in accordance with the Companies Act.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally 
accepted auditing standards in Sweden will always detect actions 
or omissions that can give rise to liability to the company, or that 
the proposed appropriations of the company’s profit or loss are 
not in accordance with the Companies Act.

A further description of our responsibility for the audit of the 
administration is available on Revisorsinspektionen’s website: 
www.revisorsinspektionen.se/revisornsansvar. This description is 
part of the auditor’s report.

PricewaterhouseCoopers AB, Torsgatan 21, 113 97 Stockholm, 
was appointed auditor of Endomines AB (publ) by the general 
meeting of the shareholders on the 10 June 2019 and has been 
the company’s auditor since before annual general meeting 2013. 

Stockholm, 29th of April 2020
PricewaterhouseCoopers AB

Martin Johansson
Authorized Public Accountant
Auditor-in-charge

Anna Rozhdestvenskaya
Authorized Public Accountant
Co-signing auditor
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